United States General Accounting Office 133489 Report to Congressional Requesters

July 1987

FARM PAYMENTS

Basic Changes Needed to Avoid Abuse of the \$50,000 Payment Limit





0.39494

зи Залія

GAO/RCED-87-176

	, τ	
		a na an

•

·

GAO

United States General Accounting Office Washington, D.C. 20548

Resources, Community, and Economic Development Division

B-225866

July 20, 1987

The Honorable Byron L. Dorgan The Honorable Dan Glickman The Honorable Leon E. Panetta House of Representatives

In response to your June 18, 1986, request and subsequent discussions with your offices, this report discusses the Department of Agriculture's administration of the \$50,000 limit on direct agricultural support payments, farm reorganizations to avoid the limit, and changes necessary to reduce avoidance of the limit. It also briefly summarizes detailed information about the impact of farm reorganizations made to avoid the limit. We reported that information to you in our April 1987 report, Farm Payments: Farm Reorganizations and Their Impact on USDA Program Costs, GAO/RCED-87-120BR. As you also requested, we have included information on the laws and regulations relating to the payment limitation as well as an explanation of the application of these regulations in appendixes I through IV of this report.

As arranged with your office, we are sending copies of this report to the Secretary of Agriculture and the Director, Office of Management and Budget. Copies will also be made available to other interested parties upon request.

This work was conducted under the direction of Brian P. Crowley, Senior Associate Director. Other major contributors are listed in appendix VII.

J. Dexter Peach Assistant Comptroller General

- 30.00

Executive Summary

Purpose	 U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA) crop support payments increased from \$4.2 billion in 1984 to about \$8.8 billion in 1986. Representatives Byron L. Dorgan, Dan Glickman, and Leon E. Panetta were concerned that some producers were trying to avoid the \$50,000 limit on payments to individual producers by reorganizing their farming operations to qualify for additional payments and asked GAO to determine the scope of the problem and estimate the cost of reorganizations for 1984-89, identify the methods used to avoid the payment limit and ways to tighten current payment limitation provisions, and review the effectiveness of USDA's administration of the payment limit.
Background	USDA makes direct income support payments to farmers under annual commodity and acreage reduction programs for wheat, feed grains, cot- ton, and rice. These payments are made in the form of deficiency and diversion payments. Deficiency payments are based on the difference between the government-established target price for a commodity and the higher of the commodity's average market price or its prescribed loan rate. Diversion payments compensate farmers who agree to take a percentage of their acreage out of production for the commodities that they would have grown on the idled acres.
	Congress limited direct income support payments to reduce costs and prevent farmers from benefiting excessively. The current \$50,000 per person limit was established in 1981 and extends through 1990. Under existing laws and regulations, persons are broadly defined to be individ- uals, members of joint operations, or entities such as limited partner- ships, corporations, associations, trusts, and estates that are actively engaged in farming. As such, a reorganization which adds a new person or persons to a farming operation can result in greater payments because each new person can qualify for up to \$50,000 in payments. USDA must review and approve all reorganizations that add new persons for payment limitation purposes.
Results in Brief	Under existing law and regulations, it is relatively easy to reorganize a farming operation so that additional persons can receive payments. GAO estimates that if the current trend in reorganizations continues, 31,300 additional persons could be receiving payments by 1989 and total costs could increase by an additional \$2.3 billion from 1984-86.

38 1987

Page 2

	Executive Summary
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
	In March 1987 USDA proposed changes in the law to tighten the payment limit by treating all entities the same and counting payments against the individual owners' limits, thereby eliminating the advantage of adding new persons to farming operations. While USDA's proposal will eliminate most of the existing ways to avoid the payment limit, it does not elimi- nate all of them. USDA can administratively change other regulations that will further tighten the payment limitation provisions. In addition, GAO found that USDA has not effectively administered existing law and regu- lations governing the payment limitation. As a result, many of the reor- ganizations that were approved by USDA did not comply with existing regulations and procedures.
Principal Findings	
Scope and Cost of Reorganizations	In 1984-86 reorganizations among producers who were at or near the payment limit added about 9,000 new producers to USDA payment rolls. While it was not GAO's purpose to prove that the intent of these reorganizations was to avoid the payment limitation, that was the effect. If this trend in reorganizations among producers affected by the payment limit continues through 1989, total program costs could increase by \$2.3 billion. (See chapter 2).
Changes to Current Law and Regulations Needed	Individuals and other legal entities can avoid the \$50,000 payment limi- tation in a variety of ways. Three methods that result in the largest number of new persons for payment limitation purposes involve (1)
	individuals who form new legal entities, such as corporations, that qual- ify as new persons to operate parts of their farming operations (2) joint operations that add individuals or other legal entities who qualify as new persons but who otherwise are not engaged in farming; and (3) indi- viduals or entities who previously farmed their own land but now lease their land to investors who can qualify for separate payments. (See chapter 3).

1111 - 1111 - 1**7**08 **12 178**-1820 - 1

~ •

.

GAO/RCED-87-176 Farm Payments

1999 -

Executive Summary

٦

USDA Program Administration Needs Improvement	GAO and the USDA Inspector General, in two separate reviews, found that USDA improperly approved new persons for program payments in over 20 percent of the cases reviewed. The improper determinations occurred because USDA had not provided adequate guidance and training to or internal control over the officials reviewing the cases.
	GAO reviewed 64 new person determination cases in 7 counties based on current law and regulations to determine if USDA was effectively administering the program. Based on the available documentation, GAO's review showed that in 29 cases there were potential overpayments of \$2.4 million in 1986.
	The USDA Inspector General's detailed review of 225 cases revealed actual overpayments of \$15.7 million from 1981-86. (See chapter 5).
Recommendations to Congress	USDA has proposed changes to the law and regulations to reduce avoid- ance of the payment limit by treating all legal entities alike and by counting payments to legal entities against the payment limits of the individuals who own those entities. USDA officials are awaiting congres- sional action on its legislative proposal before making any regulatory changes.
	GAO recommends that the Congress adopt USDA's proposed legislative changes or some alternative proposal that would have a similar effect.
	If Congress decides not to adopt USDA's entire legislative proposal, GAO recommends that, at a minimum, Congress remove the existing legislation provision that requires a corporation to be treated as a separate person for payment limitation purposes. If left in place, this provision will prevent USDA from making other regulatory changes necessary to reduce avoidance of the payment limit.
Recommendations to Secretary of Agriculture	GAO is recommending several actions that USDA can take to reduce avoid- ance of the payment limitation depending on what action the Congress takes on USDA's proposed legislation.
	USDA should also improve its guidance and training of officials who are responsible for approving farm reorganizations and improve its internal control of their activities to assure that person determination cases are made in accordance with established regulations.

Page 4

° ₿%

۰ ۳

,

	Executive Summary
	Specific recommendations are discussed in chapter 6.
Agency Comments	GAO discussed this report with ASCS officials who generally agreed with its contents. However, as agreed with your offices, GAO did not obtain official agency comments on a draft of this report.

• •

.

Page 5

≥ ≩v

1. 11.

Contents

Executive Summary		2
Chapter 1 Introduction	Limits on Direct Income Support Payments Objectives, Scope, and Methodology	10 10 11
Chapter 2 Farm Reorganizations Are a Growing Problem That Increases Program Costs	Factors Influencing the Increased Number of Producers Nearing the Payment Limit Farm Reorganizations Increased Rapidly During 1984-86 Farm Reorganizations Could Increase During 1987-89 Total New Persons Resulting From Reorganizations Related to the Payment Limitation in 1984-89 and Their Annual and Cumulative Program Payments	16 16 18 19
Chapter 3 Current Law and Regulations Make It Relatively Easy to Avoid the Payment Limit	Use of Corporation and Joint Operation Rules to Avoid the Payment Limit Other Rules That Contribute to the Avoidance of the Payment Limit	21 21 22
Chapter 4 USDA Has Proposed Changes to Reduce Avoidance of the Payment Limit, but Additional Changes Are Needed	 Principal Thrust of USDA's Proposals USDA's Proposals Will Also Make Other Rules That Contribute to Avoidance More Restrictive Changes in Law Necessary to Implement USDA's Proposals USDA's Proposals Still Have Some Loopholes Other Options to Reduce Avoidance of the Payment Limitation Are Less Effective Than Those Proposed by USDA Clear Regulations and Guidance Required to Implement USDA's Proposals 	28 28 29 30 31 32 34

GAO/RCED-87-176 Farm Payments

 $\frac{2}{3}\gamma^{2}$

3571

. .

.

Contents

,

÷ .

۰.

Chapter 5 ASCS Needs to Improve Its Administration of the Payment Limitation	Results of Reviews of County Office Operations Need for Improved Guidance Need for Improved Internal Controls Need for Improved Training Corrective Actions by ASCS	35 35 36 41 42 43
Chapter 6		45
Conclusions and Recommendations	Recommendations to Congress Recommendations to the Secretary of Agriculture	46 46
Appendixes	Appendix I: Payment Limit History	50
	Appendix II: Section 1001 of the Food Security Act of 1985, as Amended	52
	Appendix III: 7 CFR 795 - Payment Limitation	56
	Appendix IV: USDA's Explanation of How the Payment Limitation Is Applied	61
	Appendix V: ASCS State and County Offices Included in GAO Review	74
	Appendix VI: USDA's Proposed Amendment to Section 1001 of the Food Security Act of 1985	75
	Appendix VII: Major Contributors to This Report	79
Figures	Figure 2.1: Acreage Needed to Reach the \$50,000 Limit	17
	Figure 2.2: Number of New Persons Resulting From Reorganizations Related to the Payment Limitation, 1984-89	19
	Figure 2.3: Total Annual and Cumulative Payments to New Persons Resulting From Reorganizations Related to the Payment Limitation, 1984-89	20
	Figure 3.1: Corporate Case Study-1985 Organizational Structure	23
	Figure 3.2: Corporate Case Study-1986 Organizational Structure	24
	Figure 3.3: Division and Lease of Land Case Study	26

110

GAO/RCED-87-176 Farm Payments

₩ ₩

ेड्य-

Abbreviations

ASCS Agricultural Stabilization and Conservation Service

GAO General Accounting Office

170

- RCED Resources, Community, and Economic Development Division
- USDA United States Department of Agriculture

GAO/RCED-87-176 Farm Payments

	·····		 	
-				
		i		
	<u></u>		 	

2 夏42

Introduction

	The U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA) is authorized by the Agricul- tural Act of 1949, as amended, to make direct income support payments to farmers under annual commodity and acreage reduction programs for wheat, feed grains, cotton, and rice. Since 1973, these payments have been made in the form of deficiency payments. Deficiency payments are based on the difference between the government-established target price for a commodity and the higher of the commodity's average market price or its loan rate ¹ . In 1986, for example, participating corn producers received \$0.63 per bushel in deficiency payments based on the differ- ence between the government-established target price of \$3.03 and the original loan rate of \$2.40, which was higher than the market price, for each bushel produced.
	In addition, beginning in 1978, land diversion payments were added under acreage set-aside provisions covering specific program crops. Diversion payments compensate farmers who agree to take a percentage of their acreage out of production for the commodities that they would have grown on the idled acres. In 1986, a diversion payment of \$0.73 per bushel was also paid to participating corn producers to compensate them for acreage voluntarily idled. Total combined deficiency and diver- sion payments are limited under current law to a maximum of \$50,000 per person per year.
	The Agricultural Stabilization and Conservation Service (ASCS) within USDA administers the annual commodity and acreage reduction programs and the \$50,000 payment limit. For the 1984 and 1985 programs, total deficiency and diversion payments (those subject to the limit) for wheat, feed grains, cotton, and rice were \$4.2 billion and \$5.9 billion, respec- tively. USDA estimates 1986 program costs at \$8.8 billion.
Limits on Direct Income Support Payments	The Congress initially passed a limitation on direct income support pay- ments in response to both the high cost of federal farm programs and reports of large subsidy payments to individual producers. The current limit of \$50,000 per person in direct subsidy payments for producers of wheat, feed grains, cotton, and rice was established in 1980 and extended through 1990 by the Food Security Act of 1985 (Public Law 98-198). Under the payment limitation regulations, persons are broadly defined to be individuals, members of joint operations, or entities such

٠

e

 1 Price support loans are designed to assure farmers of a minimum price for their crop. If the market price is below the loan rate for a crop the farmer can keep the loan amount and turn over the crop to the government as payment in full.

8)*

	Chapter 1 Introduction
	as limited partnerships, corporations, associations, trusts, and estates that are actively engaged in farming.
	Besides the \$50,000 limit on direct support payments, separate limits have been placed on other agricultural programs. As part of the 1987 continuing appropriations act, Public Law 99-591, a new \$250,000 per- person, per-year, limit was placed on these payments. This limit includes the existing \$50,000 per-person limit on deficiency and diversion pay- ments. The remaining portion of the limit applies to disaster payments, which had previously been limited to \$100,000 per person, and various other payments not previously limited. In addition, there is a separate annual limit of \$50,000 per person for the long-term conservation reserve program that was established by the Food Security Act of 1985. While separate, these limits use the same legislative and regulatory pro- visions to determine who or what constitutes a person for payment limi- tation purposes.
	Under the 1985 Food Security Act, covering crop years 1986-90, it is possible that direct support payments could reach unprecedented high levels. This, in turn, could lead to more producers reaching the \$50,000 per-person limit in 1986 and beyond and to higher overall program costs if those producers reorganized their farming operations to create new producers to avoid the limit. For example, a producer who raises enough crops to earn \$100,000 in payments can receive only \$50,000 because of the payment limit. However, if that producer could reorganize the oper- ating structure of that farm by taking in a partner, then they each could receive up to \$50,000 in payments or a total of \$100,000.
	and the current payment limitation provisions of the Food Security Act of 1985, as amended, are included as appendix II. The regulations (7 CFR 795) implementing the payment limit are included as appendix III, and an explanation of the current application of these regulations pro- vided by USDA is included as appendix IV.
Objectives, Scope, and Methodology	We made this review at the request of Representatives Byron L. Dorgan, Dan Glickman, and Leon E. Panetta, who were concerned that farm reor- ganizations to avoid the \$50,000 payment limit were a factor contribut- ing to the increased costs of the commodity programs.
	In accordance with agreements reached with the requesters, our objec- tives in this review were to

이 이 문화가 있는 것 않아요. 이 이 이 가슴 것은 것을 가슴을 만들고 있는 것이 이 이야.

GAO/RCED-87-176 Farm Payments

14 18

	Chapter 1 Introduction
	•
•	identifying the number of new persons paid in 1984-86 as a result of reorganizations to avoid the \$50,000 payment limit and the impact on fiscal years 1987-89 costs if the trend in reorganizations continues (chapter 2), provide a summary and explanation of the laws and regulations that contribute to the avoidance of the payment limit (chapter 3),
Number of New Persons Paid in 1984-86 as a Result of Reorganizations to Avoid the \$50,000 Limit	ASCS has no central source of data on either the number of new persons approved for payment limitation purposes or the number of new per- sons resulting from farm reorganizations. Accordingly, we devised our own methodology to obtain the data necessary to determine the number of new persons paid in 1984-86 as a result of reorganizations to avoid the \$50,000 limit.
	We matched ASCS's computerized producer payment and address files for crop years 1983 through 1986 to identify a universe of new persons paid for the first time in 1984-86 and randomly selected 1,800 new per- sons (600 in each year) being paid in 1984, 1985, and 1986. We sent questionnaires to the 986 ASCS county offices making payments to these persons to determine whether these were new persons receiving pay- ments as a result of a reorganization or for other reasons such as the inheritance of an existing farm. If a new person were paid as a result of a reorganization, we asked ASCS county offices to supply actual payment information to allow us to determine if any other person(s) involved in that farming operation received \$40,000 or more in payments subject to the payment limitation the previous year. Where these conditions existed, we counted the new person and their payments as resulting from a reorganization to avoid the \$50,000 payment limitation.
	In our analysis, we used \$40,000 as the point where farmers might begin to reorganize their operations in anticipation that they would reach the \$50,000 limit in future years due to increasing per unit deficiency and diversion payments and increasing crop yields.
	It was not GAO's purpose to prove that the intent of these reorganiza- tions was to avoid the payment limitation. However, these reorganiza- tions did have the effect of avoiding the limit because the addition of

a sector a contrational a sector a sector de la sector de l

GAO/RCED-87-176 Farm Payments

[1] : 1 : 중 8(Sr.

÷.	
<u></u>	Chapter 1 Introduction
	new persons, each with a new \$50,000 limit, allowed total payments to exceed what could have been paid without the new persons.
Impact on Fiscal Year 1987-89 Costs If the Trend in Reorganizations Related to the \$50,000 Limit	To determine the impact on fiscal year 1987-89 costs if the trend in reor- ganizations related to the \$50,000 limit continues, we estimated the number of new persons resulting from farm reorganizations from 1987- 89 and the payments these persons would receive.
Continues	To estimate the number of new persons resulting from farm reorganiza- tions from 1987-89, we first determined the total number of persons who would reach the \$50,000 payment limit and therefore have an eco- nomic incentive to reorganize. Our estimation of the payments for 1987- 89 are based on built-in program changes in the Food Security Act of 1985 and the USDA budget documents for those years. We assumed that program participation and crop yields would remain constant at the 1986 level.
	We used \$50,000 during this period rather than \$40,000 because pro- gram payment growth will slow after 1986 because of changes in the 1985 law, and persons will have an economic incentive to reorganize only when they reach \$50,000, not in anticipation of higher payments in future years. After determining the number of persons receiving \$50,000 or more, we estimated the number that would reorganize, based on trend data developed from our questionnaire. We assumed that the trend would remain constant at the 1984-86 level.
	Specifics about the statistical sample and estimation methodologies we used, along with the sample results and upper and lower bounds for the estimates included in this report, are discussed separately in our report, Farm Payments: Farm Reorganizations and Their Impact on USDA Program Costs (GAO/RCED-87-120BR, April 1, 1987).
Changes Needed to Prevent Legal Avoidance of the Payment Limit	To identify the changes needed in existing law and regulations to pre- vent the avoidance of the \$50,000 payment limitation, we analyzed the types of reorganizations identified in our random sample of 1,800 new producers in 1984-86 and in our work at the ASCS county offices that resulted in the avoidance of the payment limit; identified the provisions in existing law and regulations that allowed these reorganizations; and

GAO/RCED-87-176 Farm Payments

<u></u>	Chapter 1 Introduction
	• determined how these provisions could be changed to eliminate the advantages of these types of reorganizations for payment limitation purposes without interfering with the farmers' need to reorganize for tax, estate planning, and other legitimate business purposes.
	We then used this information to analyze, comment on, and suggest changes to the Secretary of Agriculture's March 10, 1987, report to the Congress which recommended changes to the payment limitation. The Secretary's recommendations were made in response to a requirement included in the Joint Resolution Making Appropriations for Government Agencies for the Fiscal Year 1987, Public Laws 99-500 and 99-591.
Compliance With Existing Law and Regulations	To determine if ASCS is complying with existing law and regulations in administering the payment limitation, we reviewed 64 person determi- nations made for the 1986 program year at seven ASCS county offices in four states. Because of time constraints imposed by the requesters' needs, we evaluated these cases using the same information that ASCS used to make its decisions. We did not determine what other information was available to ASCS, if it had asked, nor did we determine if the farm reorganizations were carried out as planned.
	ASCS does not maintain summary statistics on the number of person determinations made at the county level as a result of reorganizations. Therefore, we chose counties for review from among those with the greatest potential for reorganization by selecting counties with a large number of producers receiving \$40,000 or more in 1985 and new producers paid in 1986.
	At the seven county ASCS offices, we randomly selected for review per- son determinations that resulted in both an increase in the number of persons paid in 1986 and at least one new person being paid in 1986. The only exceptions were at two county ASCS offices in California. In the first, we randomly sampled 30 determinations that resulted in new per- sons in 1986, whether or not this represented an increase in the number of persons paid because person determinations in this county involved many new persons who had not participated in the program before. At the other California ASCS office, we limited our review to three determi- nations that the County Executive Director considered to be reorganiza- tions specifically undertaken to avoid the payment limit and two determinations that we selected at random. Our work at the second county was limited to meet the requesters' time constraints.

化合物化合物化合物合物 化合物化物化物合物化物化合物

3.8 8

We also utilized the results of a recent audit of the payment limitation by the USDA Office of the Inspector General. The Inspector General reviewed 371 farming operations involving 1,059 person determinations made at 30 ASCS county offices within seven states. The Inspector General reviewed the decisions made by the ASCS offices based on the information obtained by these offices, additional information that would have been available to these offices if they had asked, and additional information on the actual operations of the farms.

We conducted our review from July 1986 through April 1987 at the ASCS Headquarters in Washington, D.C., the ASCS Kansas City Management Office, the USDA Office of Inspector General's Southwestern Regional Office in Temple, Tx., and at various ASCS state and county offices.

We made our review in accordance with generally accepted government auditing standards except that we did not independently verify the accuracy of ASCS computerized files or the work performed by the USDA Inspector General. We did, however, consider known limitations in the data files and reconciled discrepancies that would impact our analysis.

We discussed this report with ASCS officials, who generally agreed with its contents. However, as agreed with the requesters, we did not obtain official agency comments on a draft of this report.

्यह

「原始時間の発展な法律機構開始結合にとしてない」としての法語やいたとれた。

- 190 - 190

Farm Reorganizations' Are a Growing Problem That Increases Program Costs

	Farm reorganizations among producers receiving payments at or near the payment limit allow producers to avoid the payment limit and increase program costs. Because of built-in program changes since 1983, a greater number of producers can and will receive payments at or near the payment limit in each year through 1989. These producers have an economic incentive to reorganize and add new persons, who can qualify for up to \$50,000 per person, to their farming operations. As more and more producers near or meet the limit, the number of new persons from farm reorganizations among those producers can increase correspond- ingly. We estimate that by 1989 such reorganizations could result in about 31,300 new persons receiving about \$900 million annually. Fur- ther, we estimate cumulative additional payments resulting from these reorganizations could total \$2.3 billion for 1984-89. ¹
Factors Influencing the Increased Number of Producers Nearing the Payment Limit	The number of producers at or near the payment limit has increased because of higher per-unit deficiency payment rates and generally higher crop yields over the past few years. One way to illustrate the effect of this is to calculate the average acres that must be planted to major program crops to reach the \$50,000 payment limit. As shown in figure 2.1, the acreage needed to reach the \$50,000 payment limit on a corn farm has decreased by about 800 acres, or 51 percent, from 1983 to 1987, based on nationwide average crop yield and compliance with the mandatory minimum program requirements. ² For wheat, the corre- sponding decline is about 1,000 acres, or 44 percent. The acreage needed to reach the payment limit for cotton and rice has also declined, although not as sharply, by 20 percent and 13 percent, respectively.
Farm Reorganizations Increased Rapidly During 1984-86	An increasing number of producers reorganized their farm operations as they neared or met the payment limitation from 1983-85. As a result, in each succeeding year, 1984-86, there was a corresponding increase in the number of new persons paid. As producers reorganize their farm operations in a manner that results in new persons, total payments from USDA can increase because each new person created by the reorganiza- tion qualifies for a separate \$50,000 payment limit. Although it is not possible to prove that all of these producers reorganized to avoid the payment limit, that was the effect. Anecdotal evidence that we obtained ¹ The information in this chapter was originally reported in detail in our report Farm Payments: Farm Reorganizations and Their Impact on USDA Program Costs (GAO/RCED-87-120BR, April 1, 1987).

ある

and the second s

and the second second

Chapter 2 Farm Reorganizations Are a Growing Problem That Increases Program Costs



from state and local agricultural officials, producers who reorganized, and other sources also indicates that avoidance of the payment limit was the driving force in at least some of these reorganizations.

For 1983-85, we assumed that \$40,000 in payments was the point at which a person might reorganize a farming operation in anticipation of increased payments because of built-in program changes. For example, the corn deficiency payment rate increased about 130 percent from 21 cents per bushel to 48 cents a bushel between 1983-85 because of increased target prices in the law. On a hypothetical 1,591 acre corn farm, payments would have increased by 46 percent from \$50,000 in 1983 to \$72,855 in 1985 based on nationwide average crop yields and compliance with required acreage reduction programs. Therefore, we assumed that producers receiving \$40,000 or more in 1983-1985 had an

CHER IN

182.33

	Chapter 2 Farm Reorganizations Are a Growing Problem That Increases Program Costs
	economic incentive to reorganize in a manner that would add new per- sons to their operations and increase their payments. When this ocurred, we assumed the reorganization was related to the payment limitation.
	In crop years 1983, 1984, and 1985, respectively, 4,306, 14,356, and 28,678 producers received payments totaling \$40,000 or more. We estimate, based on our statistical sample, that about 1,400, 1,900, and 5,700 new persons, respectively, were created in the following crop years as the result of farm reorganizations among those producers.
Farm Reorganizations Could Increase During 1987-89	For the years 1983-85, producers could maximize their payments by reorganizing their operations once payments were at or greater than \$40,000 because of high program payment growth during those years. However, payment growth will slow after 1986, pushing fewer operations automatically into higher payment ranges. For example, the corn deficiency payment rate will continue to increase from 1986-88, but it will do so at a slower rate — 56 percent compared with 130 percent for 1983-85. This higher rate will also be offset, to some extent, by increased acreage reduction requirements. As a result, payments on the hypothetical 1,591 acre corn farm should increase about 39 percent from 1986-88 compared with 46 percent in 1983-85. Payment growth should slow even more for the other major crops subject to the limit, but there will still be a slight increase in payments for these crops from 1986-88. Therefore, we assumed that for the years 1987-89, producers will have an economic incentive to reorganize only when payments actually reach \$50,000, not in anticipation of higher payments in future years. After determining the number of producers receiving \$50,000 or more in 1986-88, we estimated the number that would reorganize in 1987-89, based on the trend in reorganizations among producers with an economic incentive to reorganize in 1983-85.

e Bri

 $\sum_{k=1}^{N}\sum_{i=1}^{N} \sum_{j=1}^{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \sum_{i=$

. . . Chapter 2 Farm Reorganizations Are a Growing Problem That Increases Program Costs

Total New Persons Resulting From Reorganizations Related to the Payment Limitation in 1984-89 and Their Annual and Cumulative Program Payments We estimate that about 31,300 new persons could be paid approximately \$2.3 billion as a result of farm reorganizations related to the payment limitation during 1984-89, with these new persons receiving about \$900 million in 1989. Figure 2.2 shows the year-to-year changes in the estimated annual and cumulative number of new persons from 1984-89, and figure 2.3 shows the annual and cumulative payments to these new persons during the same time period.

20

Figure 2.2: Number of New Persons Resulting From Reorganizations Related to the Payment Limitation, 1984-89



Page 19

Chapter 2 Farm Reorganizations Are a Growing Problem That Increases Program Costs

Figure 2.3: Total Annual and Cumulative Payments to New Persons Resulting From Reorganizations Related to the Payment Limitation, 1984-89





Current Law and Regulations Make It Relatively Easy to Avoid the Payment Limit

++	
	Under existing law and regulations, producers can avoid the \$50,000 payment limitation by reorganizing their farming operations in a manner that results in new persons for payment limitation purposes. The most frequent methods used to avoid the payment limit were for two producers who are already at the payment limit to form a corporation which qualifies for its own \$50,000 payment limit or by adding a new member, who may or may not be actively engaged in the actual farming operation, to a joint venture or partnership. While the rules relating to corporations and joint operations were used most frequently to avoid the payment limit, other rules, such as the basic definition of who or what constitutes a person, were also used. For any one farming operation, these methods of avoiding the payment limit usually result in the addition of only one or a few new persons because total payments for each operation are effectively limited by the amount of acreage farmed and crop yield. However, these and other methods of avoidance, such as the division and lease of land, can result in significant increases for any one farming operation.
Use of Corporation and Joint Operation Rules to Avoid the Payment Limit	We found that it is relatively easy to increase the number of persons for payment limitation purposes by incorporating. The Secretary of Agricul- ture, as required by the Agriculture and Consumer Protection Act of 1973 (Public Law 93-86), defined a corporation as a separate person if no stockholder owns or controls more than 50 percent of the stock. In addition, each corporation is considered a separate person from any other corporation provided the same two or more individuals do not own or control more than 50 percent of the stock in the corporations. By using a combination of two stockholders per corporation, each of whom owns exactly 50 percent of the stock, three individuals—A, B, and C— can form three corporations—AB, BC, and AC. The three individuals and three corporations would then qualify for a total of six payments.
	Joint operations, such as general partnerships or joint ventures, can also be used to increase the number of new persons on a farming operation. ASCS regulations provide that the individual members of a joint opera- tion, not the joint operation, are separate persons. To qualify as a sepa- rate person with a separate \$50,000 payment limit, each member must make contributions of either capital, land, equipment, labor, or manage- ment to the joint operation in proportion to their share of the payments from the joint operation. As a result, joint operations can increase the number of payment limits for their operations simply by adding addi- tional members, even if those members are not actively engaged in the

2. 1. 不能增加的公司。 医中心管理 网络拉卡尔斯拉卡拉卡尔林

GAO/RCED-87-176 Farm Payments

	Chapter 3 Current Law and Regulations Make It Relatively Easy to Avoid the Payment Limit
	actual farming operation. For example, a four member general partner- ship can increase the payment limits for its operation from four to five (e.g. from \$200,000 to \$250,000) by adding a fifth general partner, pro- vided the fifth partner's share of the payments is in proportion to that partner's contributions to the partnership, which may consist only of capital.
	The following actual example illustrates how a six-member joint venture increased the payment limit for its operation from \$300,000 in 1985 to \$1,050,000 in 1986 by forming a series of corporations and entering into a new joint venture with the corporations. In 1985, as shown in figure 3.1, the six-member joint venture consisted of a father and his five adult children, each of whom qualified as a separate person with a \$50,000 payment limit or a total of \$300,000 for the joint venture.
	In 1986, the father and his children formed 15 new corporations, each of which is owned on a 50/50 basis by two of the six individuals and qualifies as a separate person with a \$50,000 payment limit. As shown in figure 3.2, the family members reorganized their farming operation by forming a new joint venture, consisting of 21 persons—the six individuals and the 15 corporations—with a combined payment limit of \$1,050,000.
Other Rules That Contribute to the Avoidance of the Payment Limit	While the provisions relating to corporations and joint operations have been used most often to avoid the payment limit, other ASCS rules also have been used. These include the basic definition of who or what con- stitutes a person and rules relating to minor children, custom farming, substantive change, and entities with common ownership.
Basic Definition of a Person for Payment Limitation Purposes	The basic definition of a person for payment limitation purposes is any individual or legal entity that (1) has a separate and distinct interest in the land or crop, (2) exercises separate responsibility for that interest, and (3) is responsible for farming costs related to the interest from a fund or account separate from that of any other individual or entity.
	This definition allows avoidance of the payment limit through the divi- sion of land into parcels that earn payments at or near the limit and the cash lease of these parcels to investors not otherwise engaged in farm- ing. The investors' involvement in farming can be limited to investing

and the second sec

GAO/RCED-87-176 Farm Payments

2 83

-*

Chapter 3 Current Law and Regulations Make It Relatively Easy to Avoid the Payment Limit 1



Figure 3.1: Corporate Case Study-1985 Organizational Structure

~

e ne na tre avere a

Page 23

Chapter 3 Current Law and Regulations Make It Relatively Easy to Avoid the Payment Limit





Page 24

2 医诊

医尿病病毒 磷酸化 经公司公司管理 网络拉克尔科学科教学 计可能分析 建筑工作

	Chapter 3 Current Law and Regulations Make It Relatively Easy to Avoid the Payment Limit
	capital and signing agreements to lease the land, rent equipment, and hire management and labor. In some cases, the investors borrowed the investment capital using the anticipated crop or government payment as collateral. This type of reorganization can result in a significant increase in the number of new persons and the payment limit for an operation. For example, we found one instance where a management firm used this method to increase the payment limit from \$50,000 to \$1,400,000 by leasing land it managed to 28 investors. ¹ The organization of this farm-
Minor Children	ASCS regulations require that minor children 17 years of age or younger be combined with their parents and treated as one person for payment limitation purposes. However, minor children can qualify as separate persons if they have a farming operation and a residence or guardian- ship separate from their parents. In its March 10, 1987, report to Con-
	gress on the payment limitation, USDA noted that parents were establishing separate residences for the children or relinquishing legal guardianship so that their minor children could qualify as separate per- sons for payment limitation purposes. In fact, in the previous example, shown in figure 3.3, two of the 28 new persons were minor children, 10 years old.
Custom Farming	Custom farming is the hiring of others to perform services on a farm, such as harvesting a crop, on a unit of work basis (e.g. \$100 per acre harvested). In its report to the Congress regarding the payment limita- tion, USDA described the following situation involving custom farming. An individual rented a portion of his land to four individuals who had not farmed before. He then formed a corporation with the four individu- als and transferred ownership of his equipment to the new corporation, which custom farmed for himself and the four new individuals. The original individual and the four new individuals qualified as producers and separate persons, even though the corporation was farming the land. This effectively increased the number of persons for payment limi- tation purposes from one to five and the total payment limit from \$50,000 to \$250,000.

~

 1 As discussed further in Chapter 4, ASCS subsequently disallowed this increase on the basis of information we developed but stated that this type of reorganization, if done properly, is legal.

. 1

Chapter 3 Current Law and Regulations Make It Relatively Easy to Avoid the Payment Limit



Page 26

Chapter 3 Current Law and Regulations Make It Relatively Easy to Avoid the Payment Limit

Substantive Change	A substantive change in operations is required in any farm reorganiza- tion that increases the number of persons with separate payment limits. ASCS payment limitation rules identify several actions that constitute substantive change, including a 20-percent increase or decrease in the land involved and a change from share lease to cash lease or vice versa. ² Therefore, operations which are incorporating or adding new members can meet the substantive change rule by simply reducing the amount of land farmed or, if land is leased, by changing the type of lease. For example, we found a case where a father and his two sons, who quali- fied as three persons, reorganized their operation to add three more family members for a total of six persons for payment limitation pur- poses. The substantive change, which ASCS officials cited as justification for the increase in persons, was a 35-percent decrease in the amount of land farmed. In effect, government program payments on this operation could double, while the amount of land being farmed declines by one- third.
Entities With Common Ownership	Because of legislative restrictions on the treatment of corporations, ASCS combines two or more corporations owned by the same two or more individuals for payment limitation purposes only when those individuals own "more than 50 percent" of the corporations. This permits the use of corporations and joint operations in the manner described on page 22 where six individuals increased payment limits for their operation to 21 by forming 15 new corporations because none of the six persons owned "more than 50 percent" of any of the corporations. The 15 new corporations would have resulted in only one additional person rather than 15, if for example, ASCS could combine entities where the same individual(s) owns "50 percent or more" rather than "more than 50 percent" of two or more entities. This would occur because each of the individuals own 50 percent of several corporations. Therefore, all of these corporations could be combined for payment limit purposes until there was only one corporate entity that qualified for a payment. There would always be that one entity remaining because the rule combines the entities with common ownership into one person for payment limitation purposes.

2 200

. Maxim

1.11.1 日本 日本 日本 同時間 (注)

 $^{^{2}}$ In a cash lease arrangement, the lessee pays the land owner a fixed sum, either in cash or commodities, and retains all of the federal payments. In a share lease arrangement, the lessee shares the crop and associated federal payments with the land owner.

USDA Has Proposed Changes to Reduce Avoidance of the Payment Limit, but Additional Changes Are Needed

	In its March 1987 report to the Congress, USDA proposed a number of changes to reduce avoidance of the payment limit. USDA's proposals elim- inate the advantage of incorporating or adding members to a joint opera- tion to avoid the limit. USDA's proposals also include changes that will make other rules that contribute to avoidance of the limit, such as the rule for combining entities with common ownership, more restrictive. Some portions of USDA's proposal can be implemented under current leg- islation, while other portions require congressional action.
	Overall, we believe USDA's proposals are positive actions and would be more effective than other options suggested for reducing avoidance of the payment limit. We also believe that with certain revisions, USDA's proposals can be made even more effective. The adoption of USDA's pro- posals, with our suggested revisions, will discourage many farm reorga- nizations designed to avoid the payment limit without adversely affecting other legitimate reorganizations. However, ASCS must develop clear and precise implementing regulations and administrative guidance to assure that its county offices effectively implement the changes.
Principal Thrust of USDA's Proposals	The principal thrust of USDA's proposals eliminates the advantage of incorporating or adding members to a joint operation to avoid the limit. USDA plans to accomplish this by
•	treating all entities the same, as opposed to the current situation where a corporation is one person separate from its members while a general partnership is two or more persons, depending on the number of partners; determining the payment limit for each entity based on the number of its members "actively engaged" in the entity's farming operation, with actively engaged defined as a significant independent contribution of capital, land, or equipment and labor or management; attributing payments for the entity to the individual payment limits of its members on the basis of the members' interest (ownership)'; and limiting total payments for an individual to \$50,000, whether the pay- ments are from their own farming operation or attributed to them from an entity, such as a corporation, in which they have an ownership interest.

Page 28

	Chapter 4 USDA Has Proposed Changes to Reduce Avoidance of the Payment Limit, but Additional Changes Are Needed
	These changes will reduce reorganizations to avoid the \$50,000 limit because individual payment limits and the number of individuals actively engaged in farming, not the type of organizational structure, will be the driving force in applying the payment limit. Specifically, these changes will reduce the advantages of (1) adding members to increase the payment limit for an entity's operation, which is now possi- ble for joint operations, by limiting payments to the persons actively engaged in farming and (2) creating corporations that qualify as sepa- rate persons by attributing payments for an entity to the owners and counting these payments against the owners' individual payment limits.
USDA's Proposals Will Also Make Other Rules That Contribute to Avoidance More Restrictive	USDA's proposals will make the payment limitation rules for minor children, custom farming, substantive change, and entities with common ownership more restrictive. Specifically, USDA's proposals would make the following changes in these rules. Minor children who can now be separate persons in several situations would always be combined as one person with their parents in all situations, except when the child maintains a separate household and carries out the actual farming operations on a farm in which the parents have no interest. Individuals or entities who use the same custom farming organization and who are now separate persons would be combined as one person if the owners of the organization that does their custom farming has any interest in their land or crop. The substantive change rule that now allows an increase in the number of persons when there is a 20-percent increase or decrease in the land involved would be changed to require that (1) the amount of land being farmed must increase before the number of persons can increase and (2) the number of new persons added would be limited by the payments that result from the increase. For example, if enough crops are grown on the added land to qualify for an additional \$100,000 in payments, only two new persons—each with a \$50,000 limit—could be added. In addition, the rule that now allows an increase in the number of persons in a reorganized farming operation when a different land lease arrangement is used would be changed to allow an increase in the number of persons only if the new person(s) is the landowner and the change is from a cash to a share lease arrangement. Finally, the rule for combining entities with common ownership would be changed so that entities will be combined as one person when the same one or more individual(s) owns or controls 50 percent or more of

· 法规则 "你就是这些事情,你们还是不是我的意思。"

æ ≩v^e

 $\mathbb{F}_{\mathbb{F}^{d}}^{\mathbb{F}^{d}}$

Chapter 4 USDA Has Proposed Changes to Reduce Avoidance of the Payment Limit, but **Additional Changes Are Needed** the entities², rather than when "the same two or more" individuals own or control "more than 50 percent" of the entities. ASCS can implement all of these changes under its existing legislative authority, except the rule for combining entities with common ownership. However, ASCS officials stated that they did not want to make any of these changes until the Congress reaches a consensus about what changes ASCS should make. ASCS can change its rules for combining entities with common ownership only if the Congress removes the legislative restriction on the treatment of corporations for payment limitation purposes. Before ASCS can implement USDA's proposal, the Congress will have to (1)Changes in Law eliminate existing legislative requirements on the treatment of corpora-Necessary to tions for payment limitation purposes and (2) authorize payment limits Implement USDA's for legal entities based on the number of their members actively engaged in the farming operation. Under existing legislation, ASCS must consider **Proposals** a corporation as a separate person for payment limitation purposes provided that no stockholder owns more than 50 percent of the corporation's stock, otherwise the corporation and the stockholder are combined as one person, and the same two or more stockholders do not own more than 50 percent of two or more corporations, otherwise the corporations with common ownership are combined as one person. This restriction effectively prevents ASCS from changing the manner in which a corporation is treated for payment limitation purposes. The Congress would also have to authorize the determination of payment limits for entities on the basis of the number of members actively

engaged in the entities' farming operations, as existing law does not provide for this. USDA's proposal includes a suggested amendment to the Food Security Act of 1985 to make these legislative changes (see appen-

dix VI).

²USDA's proposal actually states, however, that this will occur when two or more persons own 50 percent or more of the entities, but ASCS officials intended for this to read as shown above.

	Chapter 4 USDA Has Proposed Changes to Reduce Avoidance of the Payment Limit, but Additional Changes Are Needed
USDA's Proposals Still Have Some Loopholes	USDA officials stated that they intended that total payments to any indi- vidual would be limited to the \$50,000 limit established in law, whether these payments were from the individual's own farming operations or attributed from legal entities in which the individual shares ownership. However, we found that USDA's proposed amendment to the Food Secur- ity Act of 1985 will not limit payments attributed to a member of an entity if the entity qualifies as a separate person under the current rules unless these individuals have other farming interest outside of the entity.
	For example, four individuals form a corporation to operate a farm on which 3 of those persons meet USDA's definition of actively engaged in farming. The three individuals, who are actively engaged in the corporation's farming operation, also have farming interests of their own outside the corporation that qualify them as separate persons, but the fourth individual does not. Under USDA's proposal the corporation will qualify for up to \$150,000 in payments (\$50,000 x 3 members actively engaged in farming). The payments will then be divided among the 4 owners of the corporation (\$37,500 each). The three owners who are considered as persons for payment limitation purposes have individual \$50,000 per person payment limits. However, under the proposed and current rules the fourth owner, who has no farming interest outside the corporation, does not qualify as a person and does not have an individual payment limit because he does not have a separate interest in the crop. The reason the other three individuals have a payment limit is because they have other farming interests where they have a separate interest in the crop. As such, the fourth individual could own portions of a number of corporations and receive payments from those corporations in excess of \$50,000. Ascs can correct this problem by including these individuals in its definition of a person.
	We also found that USDA's proposals do not address avoidance of the payment limit through the division and lease of land to investors not otherwise engaged in farming. Therefore, individual investors like those in the example discussed on page 25 will continue to qualify as separate persons, even though their only contribution to farming may be invest- ment capital, which in some instances comes from a loan secured by the government payments they are receiving on the farming operation. USDA could have addressed this method of avoidance by applying its proposed definition of actively engaged in farming to individual producers as well as members of an entity.

GAO/RCED-87-176 Farm Payments

> ₽¥ .

• •

	Chapter 4 USDA Has Proposed Changes to Reduce Avoidance of the Payment Limit, but Additional Changes Are Needed
	ASCS officials did not apply the proposed definition of actively engaged in farming to individuals because this would preclude payments to land owners who share rent their land. However, ASCS can reduce avoidance of the limit through the division and lease of land without impacting these land owners by requiring that the person leasing land but not the land owner also make a substantive contribution of owned-land or owned-equipment and personal labor or active management in addition to capital to the farming operations that include the leased land.
Other Options to Reduce Avoidance of the Payment Limitation Are Less Effective Than Those Proposed by USDA	Several other options to reduce avoidance of the payment limit have been suggested by Members of the Congress, their staffs, the USDA Inspector General, and others concerned about this problem. These options include (1) applying a \$50,000 payment limit to each legal entity and attributing each owner's share of that payment against their indi- vidual payment limits, (2) combining owners of a legal entity as one per- son with the entity, (3) defining only individuals as persons, and (4) increasing the payment limit. We believe these options would be less effective than USDA's proposal for reducing avoidance of the payment limit, primarily because they would likely cause an increase in other types of reorganizations. In some cases program costs would not necessarily rise, but the increase in reorganiza-
	 b) b) b
Apply a \$50,000 Limit to Each Legal Entity and Attribute That Payment to the Owners' Payment Limits	Under this option, ASCS would establish a two-tier payment limitation when legal entities other than individuals are involved. This option is very similar to USDA's proposal. The only difference is that, under this proposal, each entity would have one \$50,000 payment limit regardless of the number of its members actively engaged in its farming operations. Payments up to this limit would then be attributed to the owners of the entity and count against their individual payment limits.
	This option would remove the advantages of incorporating or adding new members to a joint operation. However, it would increase the

,

GAO/RCED-87-176 Farm Payments

ិ ដំ

	Chapter 4 USDA Has Proposed Changes to Reduce Avoidance of the Payment Limit, but Additional Changes Are Needed
	number of reorganizations because members of a joint operation who are now separate persons would have an economic incentive to dissolve the joint operation and farm separately as individuals. For example, payments which now total \$200,000 to a four-member general partner- ship would be limited to \$50,000 under this proposal. As a result, the members would have an economic incentive to dissolve the partnership and farm separately to continue receiving \$200,000.
Combine Owners of a Legal Entity as One Person With the Legal Entity	Under this option, ASCS would basically combine all legal entities with the owners of those entities for payment limitation purposes. It would remove the advantages of incorporating or adding new members to a joint operation. However, members of these entities who now qualify as separate persons would be combined with the entities as one person, an as a result, they would also have an economic incentive to dissolve the entity and farm separately as individuals. The four members of the partnership discussed in the previous example would be limited to \$50,000 in payments under this proposal unless they dissolved the part nership and farmed separately.
Define a Person as Individual Producer Only	Under this option, ASCS would not include any legal entity other than ar individual in its definition of a person, and payments would be made only to producers who are individuals. Its application would pose legal problems because legal entities do qualify as producers and are entitled to receive payments. However, even if the legal questions involved in it application could be resolved, the proposal would interfere with the ability of individual producers to reorganize their operations as legal entities for tax, estate planning, or other legitimate business reasons if those entities could not receive payments. In addition, individuals involved in existing entities would be encouraged to dissolve those enti- ties and operate as individuals so they could receive payments.
Increase the Payment Limit	An increase in the payment limit would decrease the number of produc- ers affected by the limit and, as a result, the number of farm reorganiza tions to evade the limit would probably decrease. Program costs would increase because less than 20 percent of producers with an economic incentive to reorganize (those at or near the limit) do so, and payments to those producers who do not reorganize would automatically increase The amount of increase for each producer would depend on the extent to which the payments the producer is eligible for exceed the current limit and the amount of the new limit. In addition, the economic incentive to
	Page 33 GAO/RCED-87-176 Farm Paymen

> ₽*

A.

	Chapter 4 USDA Has Proposed Changes to Reduce Avoidance of the Payment Limit, but Additional Changes Are Needed
	avoid the limit would still exist for those affected by the new higher limit, and some portion of these persons would probably reorganize.
Clear Regulations and Guidance Required to Implement USDA's Proposals	If USDA's proposals are adopted by the Congress, ASCS will need to develop clear and precise regulations and guidance for its county offices to assure their effective implementation. ASCS county officials, who make the person determinations for payment limitation purposes, will then have to determine how many members of an entity are actively engaged in the farming operation based on the number of members who make significant independent contributions of capital, land, equipment, labor, or management to the entity's operation.
	ASCS will need to define what a significant independent contribution is and how to value land, equipment, labor, and management for this determination. Currently, as discussed in Chapter 5, ASCS does not pro- vide adequate guidance to its county offices for similar determinations under existing payment limitation regulations.
	Further, ASCS will need to be explicit as to what labor and management contributions are acceptable. Otherwise, an individual can contribute capital in an amount that meets the criteria established for a "signifi- cant independent contribution" and then complete the necessary requirements to be considered "actively engaged" by providing only a few days labor or brief consultations for management purposes. In one instance, for example, we found three family members who claimed to share equally in the management of a general partnership. However, this is hard to accept when one of them lived in Australia, another lived over 100 miles from the land being farmed, and the third was paid to provide the day-to-day management of the farming operation.
ASCS Needs to Improve Its Administration of the Payment Limitation

	ASCS county offices determine which individuals and entities are sepa- rate persons for payment limitation purposes based on a farm operating plan provided by producers and applicable rules and regulations. This determination is fundamental to the effective administration of the pay- ment limitation provisions.
	In separate reviews, GAO and the USDA Inspector General found that ASCS county officials incorrectly applied or failed to obtain information neces sary to correctly apply payment limitation regulations in over 20 percent of the person determination cases reviewed. In addition, although required to, county officials did not always verify that reorganized farming operations resulting in new persons were carried out as planned.
	These incorrect determinations occurred primarily because of inade- quate guidance and training on how the regulations should be imple- mented and ineffective internal control procedures to ensure correct implementation of the regulations. During 1986, ASCS took some actions that should improve person determinations made for the 1987 and later program years. These changes include revising some program guidelines and increasing training. However, ASCS needs to further improve its guidance and training on implementation of the regulations as well as its internal controls.
Results of Reviews of County Office Operations	We reviewed 64 person determinations for program year 1986 and ques- tioned 29 determinations that resulted in 70 new persons and potential overpayments of \$2.4 million. We questioned 11 determinations because they were incorrect based on the available information. These 11 deter- minations resulted in 20 new persons and potential overpayments of \$413,000. We questioned the remaining 18 determinations because they were made without adequate information to make a proper determination.
	Because of time constraints, we did not verify these determinations against the actual farming operations of the individuals and entities involved. If we had done so, it is likely that some of the determinations made without adequate information may have been correct. However, it is important to note that county officials would not have known this at the time they made the determinations because they did not have the necessary information to make the determinations. We did, however, request that ASCS obtain additional information about one determination made without adequate information that involved the division and lease

Page 35

- 78° -

	Chapter 5 ASCS Needs to Improve Its Administrat the Payment Limitation	tion of
	of this information, ASCS heade	erwise involved in farming. On the basis quarters officials determined that none of payments and initiated actions to collect s subject to the limit.
	person determinations made b error that resulted in overpays eral went a step further than v operations of the individuals a	USDA Inspector General reviewed 1,059 etween 1981 and 1986 and found 225 in ments of \$15.7 million. The Inspector Gen- we did and reviewed the actual farming and entities involved in these determina- views, the Inspector General found that et erroneous.
Need for Improved Guidance	without sufficient information tive change be made in the far tion results in a new person for person's financing be separate son who is a member of a joint person's contributions to the jo found that custom farming and applied. These rules are impor rate persons exist for payment ASCS guidance to its county off about how these factors should In addition, ASCS guidance about	that were incorrectly applied or applied involved requirements that (1) a substan- ming operation when a farm reorganiza- r payment limitation purposes, (2) each and distinct, and (3) payments to a per- coperation be commensurate with that bint operation. The USDA Inspector General d other rules also were incorrectly tant factors in determining whether sepa- t limitation purposes. We found that the fices was generally inadequate or vague d be considered in person determinations. ut the information needed to make a per- verify that reorganized farming opera- ned was also inadequate.
Substantive Change	the reorganization results in ne poses. However, ASCS guidance	In farming operation be "substantive" if ew persons for payment limitation pur- e is vague about the nature or extent of riteria. For example, ASCS guidance for the hat
	a substantive change, but the gically what constituted a substtransfer of ownership for equi	pment or land from an existing person to lbstantive change but did not specify how
	Page 36	GAO/RCED-87-176 Farm Payments

3	Chapter 5 ASCS Needs to Improve Its Administration of the Payment Limitation
	• a "paper change" in which essentially the same individuals or legal enti- ties continue to farm the same land with the same equipment is not a substantive change but did not clarify whether this rule applies when the ownership of some or all of the land or equipment changes among the individuals and entities involved.
	As a result of the vague guidance, ASCS county officials interpreted sub- stantive change differently. For example, officials in one county consid- ered the addition of a new individual to an operation as a substantive change, while officials in another county required a 20-percent increase in land.
	The effect of such differing interpretations is illustrated by the follow- ing reorganization. In 1985, five individuals and a corporation owned by two of the individuals had six separate farming operations involving 8,900 acres. In 1986, these individuals reorganized their operations into 10 separate operations by creating four new corporations among them- selves and by leasing approximately 2 percent more land. In the county that required a 20-percent increase in land, the new organization would have been determined to be six persons receiving \$300,000 in payments. In the county where the reorganization occurred and where a 20-percent increase in land was not required, the reorganization resulted in 10 per- sons receiving \$452,000.
·	In total, ASCS county officials incorrectly determined or failed to obtain sufficient information to determine if a substantive change occurred in 8 of the 29 person determinations we questioned. The Inspector General found no substantive change in 141 of the 225 determinations ques- tioned. ¹ ASCS has issued revised guidelines which should improve the application of the substantive change rule in future program years.
Financing	The basic definition of a person for payment limitation purposes requires that a person finance his or her operation separately from any other person. ASCS headquarters interpreted this requirement to pre- clude any individual or legal entity with an interest in the new person's farm or crop from providing financing in any manner including making,

¹The number of determinations noted as being in error for each type of error discussed in this section, if added together, will exceed the total determinations found to be in error. This is because some erroneous determinations involved more than one type of error.

声が

 $F_{2,2}^{(i)}$

expenses of the new person. ASCS headquarters provided county offices

co-signing, or providing collateral for a loan or paying operating

	Chapter 5 ASCS Needs to Improve Its Administration of the Payment Limitation
	with little guidance on their interpretation of this requirement for the 1986 or prior year programs.
	California state ASCS officials incorrectly interpreted this rule during 1986 for members of a general partnership or joint venture by allowing common assets to be pledged as security for operating loans of individual members. We reviewed 13 person determinations involving partnerships or joint ventures in California and found that three were in error because of this incorrect interpretation. As a result, nine persons were overpaid \$206,000. The ASCS Executive Director in the county where these errors occurred estimated that as many as 50 percent of their determinations for partnerships or joint ventures could be in error because of the incorrect interpretation of the financing rule.
	In total, ASCS county officials incorrectly determined or failed to obtain sufficient information to determine if financing was separate in 18 of the 29 person determinations we questioned. Similarly, the Inspector General found that financing was not separate in 99 of the 225 determi- nations questioned. ASCS has revised its guidance on financing beginning with the 1987 program year but does not intend that the revised guide- lines be used to collect overpayments in prior years because in their view it would be unfair to the producers because it was ASCS' error.
Commensurate Shares	ASCS guidance provides that members of joint operations, such as general partnerships, are separate persons provided each member involved in the joint operation contributes capital, land, equipment, labor, or man- agement in proportion to (commensurate with) their share of the pay- ments. However, no guidance is provided about how to evaluate, for example, contributions of labor and management to determine if the contributions are commensurate with the payments received.
	ASCS headquarters' interpretation of this requirement is that if the assets of a joint operation are used to produce the crop, then the contribution of each member in the joint operation is equal to the member's share of ownership and consequently should be equal to his share in the payments in the joint operation. If any of the members contributes additional capital, land, equipment, labor, or management to the production of the crop, then the value of this additional contribution must be added to that member's share of ownership to determine whether the member's share of the payments is commensurate.

Page 38

\$~ \$

	Chapter 5 ASCS Needs to Improve Its A the Payment Limitation	administration of
	operations. In five of failed to obtain suffic butions were commen county officials detern surate with their shar which members contr contributions. The Ins	determinations we questioned involved joint these cases, we found that ASCS county officials ent information to determine if members' contri- surate with their payments. For example, ASCS nined that members' contributions were commen- e of payments even though they did not know buted the land or equipment or the value of those pector General also found 131 determinations in ations were not commensurate with the payments tions.
Information Needed to Make a Person Determination	whatever documentat The guidance notes th tation about land own leases, financial arran apply the payment lin	ate and county offices requires that they obtain ion is necessary to make the person determination. at the documentation may include legal documen- ership, the legal entity, operating agreements, gements, and any other information needed to nitation rules. However, no guidance is provided on is needed to apply specific rules or how this documented.
	tation they required to limitation purposes. O incorporation, financi Other offices, howeve which to base their de 12 determinations we mentation to support county officials did no owned the land or equ a result, 11 new perso	were not consistent in the information or documen- o support approval of new persons for payment fficials in one county office requested evidence of ng, lease arrangements, and capital investment. c, obtained little information or documentation on cisions. In one county, we found that none of the randomly selected for review had sufficient docu- the approval of new persons. For example, the t have documentation in some cases to show who ipment that was used by the new partnership. As ns may have been incorrectly paid \$392,000 in at the needed documentation there is no way to
	stock ownership illust information and docur corporation cannot be individual owns more of individuals' owners officials accepted lette	CS officials accepted as evidence of a corporation's rates the confusion that exists regarding what nentation are needed to apply specific rules. A a person separate from its stockholders if any than 50 percent of its stock. To verify the extent hip of a corporation's stock, ASCS county and state rs from attorneys or stockholders, minutes of etings, and copies of stock certificates without
	Page 39	GAO/RCED-87-176 Farm Payments

· .

	Chapter 5 ASCS Needs to Improve Its Administration of the Payment Limitation
	assurance that all outstanding stock was included. ASCS officials rarely obtained the corporation's stock transfer ledgers that would have provided the information necessary to verify ownership of the corporation's stock. ²
	In total, 24 of the 29 determinations that we questioned were made without sufficient documentation to determine that (1) a substantive change had occurred, (2) financing was separate, (3) partners' contribu- tions were commensurate with their share of payments or (4) ownership of land, equipment, or legal entities had changed when this information was critical to the person determinations.
	The Inspector General found similar documentation problems. Of the 225 person determinations the Inspector General found in error, 77 also involved county officials making person determinations without sufficient information.
Verification of Farming Operations	ASCS regulations require county officials to verify, beginning with the 1986 program year, that key aspects of reorganized farming operations resulting in new persons were implemented according to the farm oper- ating plan because this plan was the basis for adding the new persons. However, except for one generalized example, ASCS guidance does not indicate what key aspects of a farming operation should be verified. In addition, no guidance is provided about how this should be done beyond noting that the documentation used for this purpose should include (1) evidence of how crops were marketed, bills were paid, and who did the farming and (2) legal documents to verify ownership, existence of legal entities, or other transactions.
-	We found that county officials did not consistently implement the verifi- cation requirement. For example, officials in two counties followed an earlier state office requirement to make a review of at least two deter- minations resulting in new persons or involving operations they consid- ered suspicious. Officials in a third county requested general documentation without analyzing the determinations to identify what key information needed to be documented or what documentation was needed to support the information. In a fourth county, officials stated that they did not plan to implement this requirement. Subsequently,
	² Most corporations involved in person determinations are family owned or closely held corporations with only a few stockholders. Review of stock transfer ledgers is not burdensome for either ASCS or the corporations in these instances, and ASCS has alternative certification procedures for publicly traded corporations where this would be burdensome.

Page 40

 $(1,0) = (\sum_{\substack{i=0\\i\neq 0}}^{\infty} \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=0}$

* **

. 197 . .

٠,

	Chapter 5 ASCS Needs to Improve Its Administration of the Payment Limitation
	however, they did request some information for those determinations that we questioned. The Inspector General's review illustrates the need to verify that farm- ing operations are carried out according to their farm operating plan— the basis for determining the number of persons who qualify for pay- ments. For example, in some cases farmers misrepresented their source of financing or misrepresented farm employees, who continued to work for wages, as new persons in partnerships. The Inspector General found that 63 of the 225 person determinations reviewed were in error because producers did not operate in accordance with their plans.
Need for Improved Internal Controls	ASCS county officials are required to submit 10 percent of their determinations to the ASCS state offices for review, and state officials are required to submit 10 percent of the cases they review to ASCS headquarters for review to assure that person determinations are made in accordance with regulations. However, ASCS internal control procedures are inadequate for this purpose. The fundamental fault with ASCS internal control procedures is that the determinations are selected for review by the officials whose work is, in effect, being reviewed. Therefore, ASCS management officials have no assurance that the determinations being reviewed are representative of these determinations, as required by ASCS procedures. Further, ASCS has not established procedures to assure that the required number of determinations is submitted for review. At the suggestion of the Inspector General, ASCS required that state and county offices maintain logs of the person determinations is submitted for higher level review. However, we found that headquarters officials and officials in three of four state offices we visited did not use this information. Finally, ASCS has not established a systematic approach to analyze the determinations submitted for review to identify the types of errors found or to advise other offices of the results of such analyzes. Only the county or state office submitting a case for reviews for education on the cases reviewed. Other ASCS state and county offices do not receive timely information about policy decisions made in response to new types of reorganizations or common errors found in these reviews. For example, ASCS headquarters officials were aware that roorganizations were occurring with very little change in land or capital investment as early

•

Page 41

GAO/RCED-87-176 Farm Payments

à

Street and a

đ

	Chapter 5 ASCS Needs to Improve Its Administration of the Payment Limitation	
		, •
	percent change in land and to 30 percent of their first approving determinations	officials began requiring that there be a 20- d that reorganized entities have capital equal 2 year operating costs when reviewing and at the headquarters level. However, almost 2 information was incorporated into ASCS guid- offices.
Need for Improved Training	tent and, as evidenced by the Inspector General's re not (1) identify who shoul should receive, (2) provide of factors that impact per	als making person determinations is inconsis- the number of errors found in our review and view, inadequate. ASCS's training program does d be trained and how much training they e an approach for considering the wide variety son determinations, or (3) provide training e manual for use by state officials in training
	making person determinat how much training they sl state officials on an ad ho mine which county officia receive. Some state officia determinations. Other stat Director, who then trains bers who actually make th approach to training may	ainimum training requirements for officials cions that identify who should be trained and hould receive. Headquarters officials train c basis and allow the state officials to deter- ls will be trained and how much training they ls train all county officials involved in person ce officials train only the County Executive or advises the County Office Committee mem- ne person determinations. This ad hoc be part of the reason that the regulations were lied in the state and county offices visited by
	provide an approach for a of factors that impact per- variance in the type and c zational structures, leasing ing arrangements that mu determinations. Different possible combinations of t tion, and ASCS training doe	overview of the regulations, but it does not pplying these regulations to the wide variety son determinations. For example, there is wide omplexity of ownership arrangements, organi- g arrangements, farming practices, and financ- st be considered when making person rules apply depending on which of the many hese factors are present in a particular situa- is not provide a systematic approach for ana- termine which rules apply.
		d standardized training materials such as a raining state and county officials. The need
	Page 42	GAO/RCED-87-176 Farm Payments

2 2 2

28)

*

	Chapter 5 ASCS Needs to Improve Its Administ the Payment Limitation	ration of
	at least one state incorrectly in another state provided inc cials. In this second state, of zation as not meeting the sub did and (2) instructed county mination for each farming op	Is is illustrated by the fact that officials in interpreted the financing rules and officials correct training and guidance to county offi- ficials (1) described a hypothetical reorgani- ostantive change requirement when in fact it y officials to make a separate person deter- peration even though all related farming ered together for person determination
	discussed later in this chapte training requirements for co	nt of training provided to state officials, as er, but still has not established any specific unty officials who actually make the person a standardized training materials to assure ogram rules.
Corrective Actions by ASCS	determinations made by cour gram years. These actions in	e actions that should improve the person nty office officials in 1987 and later pro- clude improving the forms used, revising the regulations, and increasing the training
	used by county officials in m nations. ASCS replaced a one- form for individuals, a two-p nerships and joint ventures v organization may be persons as corporations that may be These new forms should mak the rules applicable to each t forms focus attention on fact	ich producers will provide the information haking 1987 program year person determi- page form with three new forms: a one-page bage form for joint operations such as part- where the individual members not the , and a two-page form for legal entities such persons separate from their members. ke it easier for county officials to focus on type of organization. In addition, the new tors important to the person determinations rangements, and ownership of land and
	county offices to incorporate in reviewing determinations These revisions address some review. For example, the rev ify that actual farming opera	ASCS also revised its guidance for state and the criteria used by headquarters officials beginning with the 1987 program year. the but not all of the problems noted in our rised guidance reemphasizes the need to ver- ations were carried out as planned and this requirement by requiring that it be done
	Page 43	GAO/RCED-87-176 Farm Payments

Chapter 5 ASCS Needs to Improve Its Administration of the Payment Limitation

for all determinations on a random sample basis. The revised guidance requires that determinations submitted to state and headquarters officials for review be selected randomly, but the officials being reviewed rather than the reviewing officials will continue to make the selection. Also, the revised guidance does not address such important considerations as how much equipment or land must change ownership to qualify as a substantive change, how to make the computations necessary to determine if payment shares are commensurate with actual contributions in joint operations, and the type of information and documentation needed to apply specific rules or verify that the operations were carried out as planned.

Finally, ASCS has increased the training provided to state ASCS officials, who in turn provide training to county officials. Prior to 1985 very little training was provided to state officials. ASCS provided a half day of training on the payment limitation provisions during meetings of these officials in 1985 and 1986 and more recently provided a full day of training on this subject for these officials. However, ASCS has not established minimum training requirements or developed uniform course materials these officials can use when training county officials, nor does it have any plans to do so at present.

35

2040

Chapter 6 Conclusions and Recommendations

Commodity program changes have increased payments to producers and placed an increasing number of them at or near the payment limit. Provisions of the current law and regulations allow individuals and entities to reorganize their farming operations by creating corporations, adding new members to joint operations, or establishing other entities that qualify for additional payment limits and thereby avoid the limit. As a result, both the number of new persons resulting from reorganizations related to the payment limit and payments to these persons increased significantly in 1984-86. The number of producers affected by the payment limit and reorganizations among these producers could continue to increase through 1989. We estimate that as many as 31,300 new persons could be receiving almost \$900 million annually by 1989 and that cumulative payments to these new persons for 1984-89 could total \$2.3 billion.

USDA has proposed changes that will eliminate the advantages of incorporating and adding members to a joint operation by (1) determining the payment limit for each legal entity based on the number of members actively engaged in its farming operation, (2) attributing the entity's payments to the individual payment limits of the members based on their share of ownership in the entity and (3) limiting payments to \$50,000 for individuals whether these payments are earned from their own operations or are attributed to them. USDA's proposals also include other changes that would make rules for minor children, substantive change, custom farming, and entities with common owners more restrictive. USDA's proposal also includes suggested legislative changes necessary for implementation.

We believe USDA's proposals are basically sound and will significantly enhance the effectiveness of the payment limitation. We also believe, however, that USDA's proposals could be made even more effective with some revision. Specifically, USDA's proposals should be revised to (1) address the division and lease of land to investors not otherwise involved in farming and to (2) define owners of an entity who have no separate interest in any farming operation outside the entity as a person in order to limit payments to them.

USDA's proposal does not include regulations and guidelines necessary to ensure the proper implementation of the new rules at the county office level. In addition, current ASCS guidance to county and state offices, training of officials in these offices, and internal controls over their activities are not adequate to ensure that person determinations are made properly or consistently. As a result, ASCS county officials are

1.2

Page 45

Chapter 6 Conclusions and Recommendations
making person determinations without obtaining information critical to those determinations and are making incorrect determinations based on the information they do obtain. While ASCS has taken a number of posi- tive actions to correct this situation, additional corrective action is required whether or not USDA's proposed changes are enacted.
We recommend that Congress enact legislation to limit payments to legal entities and attribute their payments to the individual limits of the enti- ties' owners. USDA's proposal includes legislation that would remove the existing legislative restrictions about how corporations are treated for payment limitation purposes and authorize ASCS to determine the pay- ment limit for a legal entity on the basis of the number of its members actively engaged in its farming operations.
If Congress decides not to adopt the legislation proposed by USDA, we recommend that, at a minimum, Congress remove the existing legislative restriction that requires a corporation to be considered as a separate person for payment limitation purposes as long as no stockholder owns or controls more than 50 percent of its stock and as long as the same two or more stockholders do not own more than 50 percent of two or more corporations. If left in place, this restriction will allow producers to continue to reorganize under the corporate rules in a manner that avoids the limit and will prevent ASCS from making changes necessary to reduce avoidance of the payment limit.
We recommend that the Secretary of Agriculture direct the ASCS Admin- istrator to make the following changes in the payment limitation provisions.
If the Congress adopts the legislative changes offered by USDA, ASCS should be required to (1) ensure that implementing regulations and guidance to its county offices specify the extent of contributions necessary to determine if a member of a legal entity is actively engaged in the entity's farming operation and how the member's contributions are to be valued for this determination, (2) change its rules to limit payments through attribution to members of a legal entity who are not now persons for payment limitation purposes, and (3) change its rules to require that a person who leases land make a substantive contribution of owned land or equipment and personal labor or active management in addition to capital for the farming operation that includes the leased land.

Page 46

20

If the Congress does not adopt USDA's legislative proposal, ASCS should be required to (1) implement the changes included in USDA's proposal to make the payment limitation rules for minor children, custom farming, and substantive change more restrictive and (2) change its rules to require that a person, other than a landowner, in a lease situation make a substantive contribution of owned land or equipment and personal labor or active management in addition to capital.

If Congress removes the legislative restriction on the treatment of corporations, but does not implement the remainder of USDA's legislative proposal, ASCS should be required to make the rule for combining entities with common ownership more restrictive by combining all entities as one person for payment limitation purposes when the same one or more individual(s) owns or controls 50 percent or more of the entities, as well as the other changes discussed above that it can make under its existing legislative authority.

We recommend that the Secretary of Agriculture also direct the ASCS Administrator to make the following changes in ASCS's administration of the payment limitation:

- Improve ASCS guidance to state and county offices by describing (1) how much equipment or land must change ownership to justify the approval of a new person for payment limitation purposes, (2) how to value contributions by members of a joint operation to determine if those contributions are commensurate with their share of the payments, and (3) the type of information and documentation needed to apply specific rules and verify that farm operations were carried out as planned. An acceptable alternative to describing the information and documentation needed to apply specific rules or verify farming operations in its guidance would be for ASCS to include this description in the training program discussed below.
- Revise ASCS's management review system so that reviewing officials select the determinations to be reviewed, analyze these determinations to identify the emerging trends in errors and methods of reorganization, and disseminate information about needed changes identified by this analysis on a systematic and continuing basis. ASCS headquarters officials should be responsible for disseminating the results of these analyses to assure uniformity and consistency.
- Establish a training program for ASCS state and county officials involved in person determinations that (1) identifies who should be trained and

海道

新聞

· President and the second state of the

Chapter 6 Conclusions and Recommendations

how much training they should receive, (2) sets out an approach to making and reviewing person determinations, and (3) provides standardized training materials for use by state officials in training county officials.

 $\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}}$

ક કુંત્રજ

· ·			
	,		
	р. Ф		
			<i>.</i>

Page 49

GAO/RCED-87-176 Farm Payments

≥ 80°

Appendix I Payment Limit History

Congress established an annual \$55,000 per person per crop limit for wheat, feed grains, and upland cotton in the Agriculture Act of 1970 (Public Law 91-524) to reduce program costs and to prevent producers from benefiting excessively from commodity program support payments. Payments authorized by this act included land diversion payments, wheat certificate payments, and other payments based on parity prices in use at that time.

The Agriculture and Consumer Protection Act of 1973 (Public Law 93-86) introduced the concept of target prices and deficiency payments used today and reduced the annual payment limitation for 1974 through 1977 to \$20,000 per person for the combined wheat, feed grain, and upland cotton deficiency and diversion payments.

The Rice Production Act of 1975 (Public Law 94-214) imposed an annual \$55,000 per person limit on payments for rice in 1976 and 1977.

The Food and Agriculture Act of 1977 (Public Law 95-113) continued to combine wheat, feed grain, and upland cotton deficiency and diversion payments, but it increased the annual per person limit to \$40,000 for 1978 and \$45,000 for 1979. It also limited rice deficiency payments to a separate per person limit of \$52,250 in 1978 and \$50,000 per person limit for 1980 and 1981.

In addition, the act provided discretionary authority for the Secretary of Agriculture to reduce the loan rate for wheat and feed grains to increase exports. However, if the Secretary reduced the loan rate, farmers were to receive compensation equal to the reduction in additional deficiency payment. These additional deficiency payments, commonly referred to as Findley Amendment payments, were not subject to the payment limitation.

The Agriculture and Food Act of 1981 (Public Law 97-98) provided for a \$50,000 per person limit for wheat, feed grains, upland cotton, and rice; the authority to reduce the wheat and feed grain loan rate; and the provision for Findley Amendment payments not subject to the payment limit through 1985. In addition, the act established a separate \$100,000 per person limit on disaster payments for these crops. The Extra Long Staple Cotton Act of 1983 (Public Law 98-88) amended the Agriculture and Food Act of 1981 to add deficiency and diversion payments for long staple cotton to the total payments subject to the \$50,000 limit.

р Цар

Appendix I **Payment Limit History** The Food Security Act of 1985 (Public Law 99-198) continued the payment limitation provisions of the Agriculture and Food Act of 1981 through 1990. In addition, the Food Security Act of 1985 allowed farmers to repay loans for cotton and rice at a reduced rate when the market price was less than the loan rate. The subsidies represented by the difference between the loan and repayment rates were referred to as a marketing loan and were not subject to the \$50,000 per person limit. In October 1986, Congress amended the Food Security Act of 1985 to establish a new \$250,000 limit. The new limit did not change but included the existing \$50,000 per person limit for deficiency and diversion payments. Other payments subject to the \$250,000 limit include disaster payments and various payments not previously subject to a payment limitation such as Findley Amendment payments and marketing loans. The payment limitation provisions of the Food Security Act of 1985, as amended, are included as appendix II.

lote: GAO comment	
upplementing those in the	
eport text appear at the	
end of this appendix.	Sec. 1001. Notwithstanding any other provision of law:
	(1) For each of the 1987 through 1990 crops, the total
	amount of deficiency payments (excluding any deficiency
	payments described in paragraph (2) (B) (I) (iv) of this
	section) and land diversion payments that a person shall be
	entitled to receive under one or more of the annual programs
	established under the Agricultural Act of 1949 (7 U.S.C.
	1421 et seq.) for wheat, feed grains, upland cotton, extra
	long staple cotton, and rice may not exceed \$50,000.
	rong scupic coccon, and rice may not exceed 450,000.
	(2)(A) For each of the 1987 through 1990 crops, the
	total amount of payments set forth in subparagraph (B)
	that a person shall be entitled to receive under one or
	more of the annual programs established under the
	Agricultural Act of 1949 for wheat, feed grains, upland
	cotton, extra long staple cotton, rice, honey, and
	(with respect to clause (iii) (II) of subparagraph (B))
	other commodities, when combined with payments for such
	crop described in paragraph (1), shall not exceed
	\$250,000.
	(B) As used in subparagraph (A), the term "pav-
	ments" means-~
	(i) any part of any payment that is de-
	termined by the Secretary of Agriculture to
	represent compensation for resource adjustment
	(excluding land diversion payments) or public
	access for recreation;
	(ii) any disaster payments under one or more
	of the annual programs for a commodity established
	under the Agricultural Act of 1949;
	(iii) (I) any gain realized by a producer from
	repaying a loan for a crop of wheat, feed grains,
	upland cotton, rice, or honey at the rate permit-
	ted under section $107D(a)(5)$, $105C(a)(4)$,
	103A(a)(5), $10JA(a)(5)$, or $201(b)(2)$, respective-
	ly, of the Agricultural Act of 1949, or (II) any
	gain realized by a producer from repaying a loan
	for a crop of any other commodity at a lower level
	than the original loan level established under the
	Agricultural Act of 1949;
	nyituttutat net vi 1747,

Page 52

្តំទ

(iv) any deficiency payment received for a crop of wheat or feed grains under section 107D(c)(1) or 105C(c)(1), respectively, or the Agricultural Act of 1949 as the result of a reduction of the loan level for such crop under section 107D(a)(4)or 105C(a)(3) of such Act; (v) any loan deficiency payment received for a crop of wheat, feed grains, upland cotton, or rice under section 107D(b), 105C(b), 103A(b), or 101A(g), respectively, of the Agricultural Act of 1949; and (vi) any inventory reduction payment received for a crop of wheat, feed grains, upland cotton, or rice under section 107D(g), 105C(g), 103A(g), or 101A(q), respectively, of the Agricultural Act of 1949. Such terms shall not include loans or purchases, except as specifically provided for in this paragraph. (C) The total amount of loans on a crop of honey that a person may have outstanding at any one time under the annual program established for such crop under the Agricultural Act of 1949 may not exceed \$250,000 less the amount of payments, as described in paragraph (1) and subparagraphs (A) and (B) of this paragraph, received by such person for the crop year involved. (3) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this section, if the Secretary of Agriculture determines that any of the limitations provided for in paragraph (2) will result in a substantial increase in the number or dollar amount of loan forfeitures for a crop of a commodity, will substantially reduce the acreage taken out of production under an acreage reduction program for a crop of a commodity, or will cause the market prices for a crop of a commodity to fall substantially below the effective loan rate for the crop, the Secretary shall adjust upward such limitation, under such terms and conditions as the Secretary determines appropriate, as necessary to eliminate such adverse effect on the program involved.

2 399

75

Page 53

이 집이야 요즘가 집이 깎았다. ^^^^

GAO/RCED-87-176 Farm Payments

(4) If the Secretary determines that the total amount of payments that will be earned by any person under the program in effect for any crop will be reduced under this section, any acreage requirement established under a set-aside or acreage limitation program for the farm or farms on which such person will be sharing in payments earned under such program shall be adjusted to such extent and in such manner as the Secretary determines will be fair and reasonable in relation to the amount of the payment reduction. (5) (A) The Secretary shall issue regulations--(i) defining the term "person"; and (ii) prescribing such rules as the Secretary determines necessary to assure a fair and reasonable application of the limitation established under this section. Such regulations shall provide that the term "person" does not include any cooperative association of producers that markets commodities for producers with respect to the commodities so marketed for producers. (B) The regulations issued by the Secretary on December 18, 1970, under section 101 of the Agricultural Act of 1970 (7 U.S.C. 1307) shall be used to establish the percentage ownership of a corporation by the stockholders of such corporation for the purpose of determining whether such corporation and stockholders are separate persons under this section. (6) The provisions of this section that limit payments to any person shall not be applicable to lands or animals owned by States, political subdivisions, or agencies thereof, so long as such lands are farmed or animals are husbanded primarily in the direct furtherance of a public function, as determined by the Secretary.

1

Page 54

GAO Comments	1. Source: Report to Congress by the Secretary of Agriculture With Respect to the Implementation of the Maximum Payment Limitation,
	March 10, 1987, Appendix A.

.

Page 55

. 49

7 CFR 795 - Payment Limitation

Note: GAO comment supplementing those in the report text appear at the end of this appendix.

PART 795-PAYMENT LIMITATION	
GENERAL	
Sec 795 1 [Reserved]	
795 2 Applicability	
DEFINITION	
795.3 Definition of the term "person" 795.4 Definitions of other terms	
DETERMINATION WHETHER MULTIPLE INDIVID- UALS OR OTHER ENTITIES CONSTITUTE ONE OR SEPARATE PERSONS	
795.5 Timing for determining status of per	
sons. 795.6 Multiple individuals or other entities. 795.7 Entities or joint operations not con- sidered as a person	
795.8 Corporations and stockholders.	
795.9 Estate or trust. 795.10 Club, society, fraternal or religious	
organization. 795-11 Husband and wife.	
795.12 Minor children 795.13 Other cases	
FARMING OPERATIONS	
795.14 Changes in farming operations.	
795.15 Determination whether agreement	
is a share lease or a cash lease. 795.16 Custom farming.	
SCHIDER OF DEVICE	
795.17 Scheme or device	
MISCELLANEOUS	
795.20 Joint and several liability.	
795.21 Appeals 795.22 Interpretations	
795.23 Paperwork Reduction Act assigned	
number. 795.24 Relief.	
AUTHORITY, Sec. 1001, Pub L 98-199. 7	
U.S.C. 1308, 99 Stat 1444. Source 43 FR 9784, Mar 10, 1978, unless	
otherwise noted	
GENERAL	
§ 795.1 [Reserved]	
9 793.2 Applicability.	
(a) The provisions of this part are	
applicable to payments when so pro-	
vided by the individual program regu-	

lations under which the payments are made. The amount of the limitation shall be as specified in the individual program regulations. (b) The limitation shall be applied to

the payments for a commodity for a crop year.

(c) The limitation shall not be applicable to payments made to States, political subdivisions, or agencies thereof for participation in the programs on lands owned by such States, political subdivisions, or agencies thereof so long as such lands are farmed primarily in the direct furtherance of a public function. However, the limitation is applicable to persons who rent or lease land owned by States, political subdivisions, or agencies thereof.

(d) The limitation shall not be applicable to payments made to Indian tribal ventures participating in the programs where a responsible official of the Bureau of Indian Affairs or the Indian Tribal Council certifies that no more than the program payment limitation shall accrue directly or indirectly to any individual Indian and the State committee reviews and approves the exemption.

(49 FR 14719, Apr. 13, 1984, as amended at 51 FR 8453, Mar. 11, 1986, 51 FR 36905, Oct 16, 1986)

DEFINITIONS

igned \$795.3 Definition of the term "person".

Subject to the provisions of this part, the term "person" shall mean an individual. Joint stock company, corporation, association, trust, estate, or other legal entity. In order to be considered a separate person for the purpose of the payment limitation, in addition to the other conditions of this part, the individual or other legal entity must:

(a) Have a separate and distinct interest in the land or the crop involved.
(b) Exercise separate responsibility for such interest, and

漏的

(c) Be responsible for the cost of farming related to such interest from a fund or account separate from that of any other individual or entity.

\$ 795.4 Definitions of other terms

In the regulations in this part and in all instructions, forms, and documents in connection therewith, all words and phrases, other than the term "person", shall have the meanings assigned to them in the regulations goerning reconstitutions of farms, allotments, and bases. Part 719 of this chapter, as amended.

DETERMINATION WHETHER MULTIPLE INDIVIDUALS OF OTHER ENTITIES CON-STITUTE ONE OR SEPARATE PERSONS

§ 795.5 Timing for determining status of persons.

Except as otherwise set forth in this part, the status of individuals or entities as of March 1, or such other date as may be determined and announced by the Administrator shall be the basis on which determinations are made in accordance with this part for the year for which the determination is made.

(5) FR 21836, June 16, 1986, 51 FR 36905. Oct. 16, 1986)

\$795.6 Multiple individuals or other entities.

The rules in §§ 795.5 through 795.16 shall be used to determine whether certain multiple individuals or legal entities are to be treated as one person or as separate persons for the purpose of applying the limitation in cases in which more than one rule would appear to be applicable, the rule which is most restrictive on the number of persons shall apply.

8795.7 Entities or joint operations not considered as a person.

A partnership, joint venture, tenants-in-common, or joint tenants shall not be considered as a person but, not-

Page 56

GAO/RCED-87-176 Farm Payments

Appendix III 7 CFR 795 - Payment Limitation



#795.8 Corporations and stockholders.

(a) A corporation (including a limit Feb. 22, 1980) ed partnership) shall be considered as one person, and an individual stock. \$ 795.9 Estate or trust. holder of the corporation may be con: (a) An estate or irrevocable trust sidered as a separate person to the shall be considered as one person extent that such stockholder is e^{-1} except that where two or more estates gaged in the production of the crop a^{-5} or irrevocable trusts have common

withstanding the provisions of § 795.3, meets the requirements of § 795.3, spouses and minor children) with each individual or other legal entity except that a corporation in which more than a 50-percent interest, all who choose in the conversion of the second who shares in the proceeds derived more than 50 percent of the stock is owned by an indivitual (including the atock owned by the individual's spouse, minor children, and trusts for the benefit of such minor children), or by a legal entity, shall not be consid-ered as a separate person from such individual or legal entity.

(b) Where the same two or more in-dividuals or other legal entities own more than 50 percent of the stock in each of two or more corporations, all such corporations shall be considered

as one person. (c) The percentage share of the

[43 FR 9784, Mar. 10, 1978, as amended at 45 FR 10311, Feb. 15, 1980; 45 FR 11795.

separate producer and otherwise beneficiaries or heirs (including

more than a 50-percent interest. all

such estates or irrevocable trusts shall be considered as one person

(b) An individual heir of an estate or beneficiary of a trust may be consid ered as a separate person to the extent that such heir or beneficiary is engaged in the production of crops as a separate producer and otherwise meets the requirements of § 795.3, except that an estate or irrevocable trust which has a sole heir or benefici ary shall not be considered as a separate person from such heir or beneficiarv

(c) Where an irrevocable trust or an estate is a producer on a farm and one or more of the beneficiaries or heirs of such trust or estate are minor children, the minor children's pro rata share of the program payments to the trust or estate shall be attributed to the parent of the minor children except as otherwise provided § 795.12. in

(d) A revocable trust shall not be considered as a separate person from the grantor.

\$795.10 Club. society. fraternal or religious organization

Each individual club, society, fraternal or religious organization may be considered as a separate person to the extent that each such club, society, fraternal or religious organization is engaged in the production of crops as a separate producer and otherwise meets the requirements of § 795.3.

\$795.11 Husband and wife

A husband and wife shall be considered as one person.

\$795.12 Minor children

(a) A minor child and his parents or guardian (or other person responsible for him) shall be considered as one person, except that the minor child may be considered as a separate person if such minor child is a produc-er on a form in which the parents or er on a farm in which the parents or guardian or other person responsible for him (including any entity in which the parents or guardian or other person responsible for him has a sub-stantial interest, i.e., more than a 20-percent interest) takes no part in the operation of the farm (including any



change in operations. Therefore, the corporation and the three individuals would be limited to three payment limitations.

#795.15 Determining whether agreement is a share lease or a cash lease.

(a) Cash lease. If a rental agreement contains provisions for a guaranteed minimum rental with respect to the amount of rent to be paid to the landlord by a tenant, such agreement shall be considered to be a cash rental agreement. In addition, the rental agreement must be customary and reasonable for the area.

(b) Share lease. If a rental agreement contains provisions that require the payment of rent on the basis of the amount of the crop produced or the proceeds derived from the crop, such agreement shall be considered to be a share rental agreement. In addition, the rental agreement must be customary and reasonable for the area.

(51 FR 8454, Mar. 11, 1986 and 51 FR 36905, Oct. 16, 1986)

\$ 795.16 Custom farming.

(a) Custom farming is the performance of services on a farm such as land preparation, seeding, cultivating, applying pesticides, and harvesting for hire with remuneration on a unit of work basis, except that, for the purpose of applying the provisions of this section, the harvesting of crops and the application of agricultural chemicals by firms regularly engaged in such businesses shall not be regarded as custom farming. A person performing custom farming shall be considered as being separate from the person for whom the custom farming is performed only if: (1) The compensation for the

(1) The compensation for the custom farming is paid at a unit of work rate customary in the area and is in no way dependent upon the amount of the crop produced, and (2) the person performing the custom farming (and any other entity in which such person has more than a 20-percent interest) has no interest, directly or indirectly, (i) in the crop on the farm by taking any risk in the production of the crop, sharing in the proceeds of the crop, sharing or guaranteeing the inancing of the crop, (ii) in the allotment on the farm. or (iii) in the farm

Page 58

44

Appendix III 7 CFR 795 - Payment Limitation

as landowner, landlord, mortgage holder, trustee, lienholder, guarantor, agent, manager, tenant, sharecropper, or any other similar capacity.

(b) A person having more than a 20percent interest in any legal entity performing custom farming shall be considered as being separate from the person for whom the custom farming is performed only if

(1) The compensation for the custom farming service is paid at a unit of work rate customary in the area and is in no way dependent upon the amount of the crop produced, and (2) the person having such interest in the legal entity performing the custom farming has no interest, directly or indirectly. (1) in the crop on the farm by taking any risk in the production of the corp, granting or guaranteeing the financing of the crop. (1) in the allotment on the farm or (11) in the farm as landowner, landlord, mortgage holder, trustee, lienholder, guarantor, agent, manager, tenant, sharecropper, or in any other similar capacity.

SCHEME OR DEVICE

\$795.17 Scheme or device

All or any part of the payments otherwise due a person under the upland cotton, wheat, feed grain and rice programs on all farms in which the person has an interest may be withheld or required to be refunded if the person adopts or participates in adopting any scheme or device designed to evade or which has the effect of evading the rules of this part. Such acts shall include, but are not limited to, concealing from the county committee any information having a bearing on the application of the rules of this part or submitting false information to the county committee (for example, a set-aside agreement which is entered into that differs from information furnished to the county committee concerning the manner in which program payments are actually shared, concerning the actual facts of a sale, or concerning the transfer of property or creating fictitious entities for the purpose of concealing the interest of a person in a farming operation.

MISCELLARBOUS

795.20 Joint and several liability.

Where two or more individuals or legal entities, who are treated as one person hereunder, receive payments which in the aggregate exceed the limitation, such individuals or legal entities shall be liable, jointly and severally, for any liability arising therefrom. The provisions of this part requiring the refund of payments shall be applicable in addition to any liability under criminal and civil fraud statutes

§ 795.21 Appeals.

Any person may obtain reconsideration and review of determinations made under this part in accordance with the appeal regulations. Part 780 of this chapter, as amended.

\$795.22 Interpretations.

In interpretations previously issued pursuant to the payment limitation regulations and published at 36 FR 16569.37 FR 3049.39 FR 15021 and 41 FR 17527 shall be applicable in construing the provisions of this part.

§ 795.23 Paperwork Reduction Act assigned number.

The information collection requirements contained in these regulations (7 CFR Part 795) have been approved by the Office of Management and Budget under the provisions of 44 U.S.C. Chapter 35 and have been assigned OMB control number 0560-0096.

(49 PR 14719, Apr. 13, 1984)

§ 795.24 Relief.

If a producer relied on a county committee and/or State committee "person" determination for a crop year and higher reviewing authority makes a more restrictive determination, the Deputy Administrator may grant relief only for such crop year if the producer was not afforded an opportunity to exercise other alternatives with respect to the producer's farming operation and the program provisions and the county committee has determined that the producers acted in good faith based upon the original "person" determination.

2

. Me

GAO/RCED-87-176 Farm Payments

151 FTx 8454 Mar 11, 1986, 51 FTx 36915. Oct 16 1986) Appendix III 7 CFR 795 - Payment Limitation

GAO Comment

1. Source: Report to Congress by the Secretary of Agriculture With Respect to the Implementation of the Maximum Payment Limitation, March 10, 1987, Appendix B.

> ્ર ક્રેસ્ટ

Page 60

Appendix IV

USDA's Explanation of How the Payment Limitation Is Applied

Note: GAO comment supplementing those in the report text appear at the end of this appendix.

I. DISCUSSION OF CURRENT APPLICATION OF THE PAYMENT LIMITATION

A. MANNER IN WHICH "PERSON" DETERMINATIONS ARE MADE

The Administrator of the Agricultural Stabilization and Conservation Service (ASCS) has been delegated the responsibility of implementing the maximum payment limitation requirement. In order to determine the amount of annual farm program payments a "person" is receiving, ASCS must determine all possible sources through which an individual or entity may be receiving farm program payments. Therefore, producers are required to annually submit information to the local county Agricultural Stabilization and Conservation (ASC) committees detailing all of their interest in farming operations. Forms have been developed for collecting the information needed to make "person" determinations. These forms are as follows:

Page 61

2817 978 GAO/RCED-87-176 Farm Payments

Appendix IV USDA's Explanation of How the Payment Limitation Is Applied

Number	Title	Appendices
ASCS-561	Farm Operating Plan for Pay Limitation Review (Individu	
ASCS-561-A	Farm Operating Plan for Pay Limitation Review for a Lim Partnership, Corporation, E or Trust	ited
AS CS-561-B	Farm Operating Plan for Pay Limitation Review for Joint Venture or General Partners	
Producers must	file these forms with the loc	al county ASC
committee whene	ver there is a change in the	producer's farming
operation from	the previous year. If there	has been no change,
the producer mu	st submit a signed statement	to that effect.
Initial "person"	determinations are made by	the county ASC
committee. A p	roducer may appeal a county A	SC committee
determination to	o the State ASC committee and	ultimately to the
Deputy Administ	rator, State and County Opera	tions, ASCS in
accordance with the Administrative Appeal Regulations,		
7 CFR Part 780.		
B. OVERVI	EW OF REGULATIONS GOVERNING T	THE APPLICATION OF THE
PAYMEN	<u>r limitation</u> .	
1. <u>General</u>	1. The regulations implement	ing the payment
limitation focus primarily on the definition of a "person."		

2 200

Page 62

,

Ś

è

Each producer meeting the definition of a "person" may be eligible to receive the maximum level of annual commodity payments allowed by section 1001 of the Food Security Act of 1985, as amended. The fundamental precept of the regulations is that each producer determined to be a "person" for payment limitation purposes must: (a) have a separate and distinct interest in the land or the crop involved, exercise separate responsibility for such interest, (b) and (c) be responsible for the cost of farming related to such interest from a fund or account separate from that of any other individual or entity. Treatment of Individuals or Entities. In applying the 2. basic concept set forth in item 1 above, the regulations further provide for the treatment of individuals or entities as follows: (a) Entities or joint operations are not considered to be a "person". Generally, a partnership, joint venture, tenant-in-common, or joint tenant is not considered as a "person" but each individual or other legal entity who shares in the proceeds derived from farming by such joint operations is considered to be a separate person. However, each

高い

1.5

などなど、暴気のないです。

GAO/RCED-87-176 Farm Payments



a.

Page 64

Appendix IV USDA's Explanation of How the Payment Limitation Is Applied

÷



and minor children) with more than a 50-percent interest, all

y Sv GAO/RCED-87-176 Farm Payments

Page 65

such estates or irrevocable trusts are considered to be	
combined.	
An individual heir of an estate or beneficiary of a trust may	
be considered as a separate "person" apart from the trust or	
estate to the extent that such heir or beneficiary is engaged	
in the production of crops as a separate producer and otherwise	
meets the requirements of the regulations. However, a sole	
heir or beneficiary of an estate or irrevocable trust shall be	
combined with the estate or trust.	
Where an irrevocable trust or an estate is a producer on a	
farm and one or more of the beneficiaries or heirs of such	
trust or estate are minor children, the minor children's pro	
rata share of the program payments made to the trust or	
estate is attributed to the parent of the minor children,	
unless such minor children are determined to be "independent	
minors." (See subparagraph (f), <u>infra</u> .)	
A revocable trust is not considered as a separate "person"	
from the grantor.	
(d) Each individual club, society, fraternal or	
religious organization is considered to be a separate	
"person" to the extent that each such club, society,	
fraternal or religious organization is engaged in the	
production of crops as a separate producer and otherwise	
meets the requirements of the regulations.	

> }ie

Page 66

GAO/RCED-87-176 Farm Payments

۲.

Appendix IV USDA's Explanation of How the Payment Limitation Is Applied

.*

A husband and wife are considered as one "person." (e) (f) Minor children and their parents or guardians (or other person responsible for them) are considered to be one "person", except that the minor child may be considered to be a separate "person" if such minor is determined to be "independent." A minor child will be determined to be independent if such minor child is a producer on a farm in which the parents or guardian or other person responsible for the minor child (including any entity in which the parents or guardian or other person responsible for the child has a substantial interest, i.e., more than a 20-percent interest) takes no part in the operation of the farm (including any activities as a custom farmer) and owns no interest in the farm or in any portion of the production on the farm and if such minor child: (i) Is represented by a court-appointed guardian who is required by law to make a separate accounting for the minor and ownership of the farm is vested in the minor child, or

(ii) Has established and maintains a different household from the minor child's parents or guardian and personally carries out the actual farming operations on the farm for which there is a separate accounting, or

Page 67

Appendix IV USDA's Explanation of How the Payment Limitation Is Applied

(iii)¹ Has a farming operation as a result of the minor child's being the beneficiary of an irrevocable trust and ownership of the property is vested in the trust or the minor child.

A "person" is considered to be a minor child until attaining 18 years of age. Court proceedings conferring majority on a person under 18 years of age do not change such person's status as a minor for purposes of applying the payment limitation regulations.

3. Substantive Change Rule.

The payment limitation regulations recognize that persons may exercise their right, under law, to divide, sell, transfer, rent, or lease their property. Any change in the farming operations that would otherwise serve to increase the number of persons for application of the payment limitation must be bona fide and substantive.

As examples, a substantive change includes: a substantial increase or decrease in the size of the farm by purchase, sale, or lease; a substantial increase or decrease in the size of allotment by purchase, sale or lease; a change from a cash lease to a share lease or vice versa; and dissolution of an entity such as a corporation or partnership.

声が

Page 68

GAO/RCED-87-176 Farm Payments

Examples of the types of changes that would not be considered as substantive are the following:

Example 1:

A corporation is owned equally by four shareholders. The corporation owns land, buildings, and equipment and in the prior year carried out substantial farming operations. Three of the shareholders propose forming a partnership which they would own equally. The partnership would cash lease land and equipment from the corporation with the objective of having the three partners considered to be separate "persons" for purposes of applying the payment limitation.

The formation of such a partnership and the leasing of land from a corporation in which they hold a major interest would not constitute a substantive and bona fide change in operations. Therefore, the corporation and the partners would be limited to a single payment limitation.

Example 2:

Three individuals each have individual farming operations which, if continued unchanged, would permit them to have a total of three payment limitations. The three individuals propose forming a corporation which they would own equally. The corporation would then cash lease a portion of the

í.

Page 69

GAO/RCED-87-176 Farm Payments

<pre>farmland owned and previously operated by the individuals with the objective of having the corporation considered as a separate "person" for purposes of applying the payment limitation. The formation of such a corporation and the leasing of land from the stockholders would not constitute a substantive and bona fide change in operations. Therefore, the corporation and the three individuals would be limited to three payment limitations. 4. <u>Custom Farming</u>. Custom farming is the performance of services on a farm such as land preparation, seeding, cultivating, applying pesticides, and harvesting for hire with remuneration on a unit of work basis, except that, for the purpose of applying the payment limitation, the harvesting of crops and the application of agricultural chemicals by firms regularly engaged in such businesses are not regarded as custom farming. A person performing custom farming shall be considered to be separate from the person for whom the custom farming is performed only if:</pre>	
 with the objective of having the corporation considered as a separate "person" for purposes of applying the payment limitation. The formation of such a corporation and the leasing of land from the stockholders would not constitute a substantive and bona fide change in operations. Therefore, the corporation and the three individuals would be limited to three payment limitations. 4. <u>Custom Farming</u>. Custom farming is the performance of services on a farm such as land preparation, seeding, cultivating, applying pesticides, and harvesting for hire with remuneration on a unit of work basis, except that, for the purpose of applying the payment limitation, the harvesting of crops and the application of agricultural chemicals by firms regularly engaged in such businesses are not regarded as custom farming shall be considered to be separate from the person for whom the custom farming is performed only if: (a) The compensation for the custom farming is paid at a unit of work rate customary in the area and is in no way dependent upon the amount of the crop 	
<pre>separate "person" for purposes of applying the payment limitation. The formation of such a corporation and the leasing of land from the stockholders would not constitute a substantive and bona fide change in operations. Therefore, the corporation and the three individuals would be limited to three payment limitations. 4. <u>Custom Farming</u>. Custom farming is the performance of services on a farm such as land preparation, seeding, cultivating, applying pesticides, and harvesting for hire with remuneration on a unit of work basis, except that, for the purpose of applying the payment limitation, the harvesting of crops and the application of agricultural chemicals by firms regularly engaged in such businesses are not regarded as custom farming. A person performing custom farming shall be considered to be separate from the person for whom the custom farming is performed only if:</pre>	farmland owned and previously operated by the individuals
<pre>limitation. The formation of such a corporation and the leasing of land from the stockholders would not constitute a substantive and bona fide change in operations. Therefore, the corporation and the three individuals would be limited to three payment limitations. 4. <u>Custom Farming</u>. Custom farming is the performance of services on a farm such as land preparation, seeding, cultivating, applying pesticides, and harvesting for hire with remuneration on a unit of work basis, except that, for the purpose of applying the payment limitation, the harvesting of crops and the application of agricultural chemicals by firms regularly engaged in such businesses are not regarded as custom farming. A person performing custom farming shall be considered to be separate from the person for whom the custom farming is performed only if:</pre>	with the objective of having the corporation considered as a
 leasing of land from the stockholders would not constitute a substantive and bona fide change in operations. Therefore, the corporation and the three individuals would be limited to three payment limitations. 4. <u>Custom Farming</u>. Custom farming is the performance of services on a farm such as land preparation, seeding, cultivating, applying pesticides, and harvesting for hire with remuneration on a unit of work basis, except that, for the purpose of applying the payment limitation, the harvesting of crops and the application of agricultural chemicals by firms regularly engaged in such businesses are not regarded as custom farming. A person performing custom farming shall be considered to be separate from the person for whom the custom farming is performed only if: (a) The compensation for the custom farming is paid at a unit of work rate customary in the area and is in no way dependent upon the amount of the crop 	separate "person" for purposes of applying the payment
 substantive and bona fide change in operations. Therefore, the corporation and the three individuals would be limited to three payment limitations. 4. Custom Farming. Custom farming is the performance of services on a farm such as land preparation, seeding, cultivating, applying pesticides, and harvesting for hire with remuneration on a unit of work basis, except that, for the purpose of applying the payment limitation, the harvesting of crops and the application of agricultural chemicals by firms regularly engaged in such businesses are not regarded as custom farming. A person performing custom farming shall be considered to be separate from the person for whom the custom farming is performed only if: (a) The compensation for the custom farming is paid at a unit of work rate customary in the area and is in no way dependent upon the amount of the crop 	limitation. The formation of such a corporation and the
 the corporation and the three individuals would be limited to three payment limitations. 4. <u>Custom Farming</u>. Custom farming is the performance of services on a farm such as land preparation, seeding, cultivating, applying pesticides, and harvesting for hire with remuneration on a unit of work basis, except that, for the purpose of applying the payment limitation, the harvesting of crops and the application of agricultural chemicals by firms regularly engaged in such businesses are not regarded as custom farming. A person performing custom farming shall be considered to be separate from the person for whom the custom farming is performed only if: (a) The compensation for the custom farming is paid at a unit of work rate customary in the area and is in no way dependent upon the amount of the crop 	leasing of land from the stockholders would not constitute a
 three payment limitations. <u>Custom Farming</u>. Custom farming is the performance of services on a farm such as land preparation, seeding, cultivating, applying pesticides, and harvesting for hire with remuneration on a unit of work basis, except that, for the purpose of applying the payment limitation, the harvesting of crops and the application of agricultural chemicals by firms regularly engaged in such businesses are not regarded as custom farming. A person performing custom farming shall be considered to be separate from the person for whom the custom farming is performed only if: (a) The compensation for the custom farming is paid at a unit of work rate customary in the area and is in no way dependent upon the amount of the crop 	substantive and bona fide change in operations. Therefore,
 4. <u>Custom Farming</u>. Custom farming is the performance of services on a farm such as land preparation, seeding, cultivating, applying pesticides, and harvesting for hire with remuneration on a unit of work basis, except that, for the purpose of applying the payment limitation, the harvesting of crops and the application of agricultural chemicals by firms regularly engaged in such businesses are not regarded as custom farming. A person performing custom farming shall be considered to be separate from the person for whom the custom farming is performed only if: (a) The compensation for the custom farming is paid at a unit of work rate customary in the area and is in no way dependent upon the amount of the crop 	the corporation and the three individuals would be limited to
<pre>services on a farm such as land preparation, seeding, cultivating, applying pesticides, and harvesting for hire with remuneration on a unit of work basis, except that, for the purpose of applying the payment limitation, the harvesting of crops and the application of agricultural chemicals by firms regularly engaged in such businesses are not regarded as custom farming. A person performing custom farming shall be considered to be separate from the person for whom the custom farming is performed only if:</pre>	three payment limitations.
<pre>cultivating, applying pesticides, and harvesting for hire with remuneration on a unit of work basis, except that, for the purpose of applying the payment limitation, the harvesting of crops and the application of agricultural chemicals by firms regularly engaged in such businesses are not regarded as custom farming. A person performing custom farming shall be considered to be separate from the person for whom the custom farming is performed only if: (a) The compensation for the custom farming is paid at a unit of work rate customary in the area and is in no way dependent upon the amount of the crop</pre>	4. <u>Custom Farming</u> . Custom farming is the performance of
<pre>with remuneration on a unit of work basis, except that, for the purpose of applying the payment limitation, the harvesting of crops and the application of agricultural chemicals by firms regularly engaged in such businesses are not regarded as custom farming. A person performing custom farming shall be considered to be separate from the person for whom the custom farming is performed only if:</pre>	services on a farm such as land preparation, seeding,
<pre>the purpose of applying the payment limitation, the harvesting of crops and the application of agricultural chemicals by firms regularly engaged in such businesses are not regarded as custom farming. A person performing custom farming shall be considered to be separate from the person for whom the custom farming is performed only if:</pre>	cultivating, applying pesticides, and harvesting for hire
<pre>harvesting of crops and the application of agricultural chemicals by firms regularly engaged in such businesses are not regarded as custom farming. A person performing custom farming shall be considered to be separate from the person for whom the custom farming is performed only if:</pre>	with remuneration on a unit of work basis, except that, for
<pre>chemicals by firms regularly engaged in such businesses are not regarded as custom farming. A person performing custom farming shall be considered to be separate from the person for whom the custom farming is performed only if: (a) The compensation for the custom farming is paid at a unit of work rate customary in the area and is in no way dependent upon the amount of the crop</pre>	the purpose of applying the payment limitation, the
<pre>not regarded as custom farming. A person performing custom farming shall be considered to be separate from the person for whom the custom farming is performed only if: (a) The compensation for the custom farming is paid at a unit of work rate customary in the area and is in no way dependent upon the amount of the crop</pre>	harvesting of crops and the application of agricultural
A person performing custom farming shall be considered to be separate from the person for whom the custom farming is performed only if: (a) The compensation for the custom farming is paid at a unit of work rate customary in the area and is in no way dependent upon the amount of the crop	chemicals by firms regularly engaged in such businesses are
<pre>separate from the person for whom the custom farming is performed only if: (a) The compensation for the custom farming is paid at a unit of work rate customary in the area and is in no way dependent upon the amount of the crop</pre>	not regarded as custom farming.
<pre>performed only if: (a) The compensation for the custom farming is paid at a unit of work rate customary in the area and is in no way dependent upon the amount of the crop</pre>	A person performing custom farming shall be considered to be
(a) The compensation for the custom farming is paid at a unit of work rate customary in the area and is in no way dependent upon the amount of the crop	separate from the person for whom the custom farming is
paid at a unit of work rate customary in the area and is in no way dependent upon the amount of the crop	performed only if:
in no way dependent upon the amount of the crop	(a) The compensation for the custom farming is
	paid at a unit of work rate customary in the area and is
produced, and	in no way dependent upon the amount of the crop
	produced, and

Page 70

GAO/RCED-87-176 Farm Payments

٢,
Appendix IV USDA's Explanation of How the Payment Limitation Is Applied

æ

(b) the person performing the custom farming (and any other entity in which such person has more than a 20-percent interest) has no interest, directly or indirectly, (i) in the crop on the farm by taking any risk in the production of the crop, sharing in the proceeds of the crop, granting or guaranteeing the financing of the crop, (ii) in the allotment on the farm, or (iii) in the farm as landowner, landlord, mortgage holder, trustee, lienholder, guarantor, agent, manager, tenant, sharecropper, or any other similar capacity. A person having more than a 20-percent interest in any legal entity performing custom farming is considered as being separate from the person for whom the custom farming is performed only if: (a) The compensation for the custom farming service is paid at a unit of work rate customary in the area and is in no way dependent upon the amount of the crop produced, and (b) the person having such interest in the legal entity performing the custom farming has no interest, directly or indirectly, (i) in the crop on the farm by taking any risk in the production of the crop, sharing

> e Se

 ${\mathbb R}_{\leq 0}$

Page 71

点。GNG第二十二十二

GAO/RCED-87-176 Farm Payments

.

the finar	ncing of the crop, (ii) in the allotment on t	the
farm, or	(iii) in the farm as landowner, landlord,	
mortgage	holder, trustee, lienholder, guarantor, ager	nt,
manager,	tenant, sharecropper, or in any other simila	ar
capacity.		

a Bar

η.

Appendix IV USDA's Explanation of How the Payment Limitation Is Applied

GAO Comment

1. Source: Report to Congress by the Secretary of Agriculture With Respect to the Implementation of the Maximum Payment Limitation, March 10, 1987, pages 1 through 12.

Page 73

a Ser

Appendix V ASCS State and County Offices Included in GAO Review

State	County	
California	Butte Kings	
Nebraska	Custer Dawson Phelps	
Texas	Hockley	
Washington	Adams	/

Page 74

and an antipation of the state of the state

GAO/RCED-87-176 Farm Payments

 $[\hat{\theta}_{j}^{0}]_{i}$

Appendix VI

USDA's Proposed Amendment to Section 1001 of the Food Security Act of 1985

Note: GAO comment supplementing those in the report text appear at the end of this appendix. A BILL To provide for the fair and equitable application of the maximum limitation on farm program payments that may be received by a person. Be it enacted by the Senate and the House of Representatives in Congress assembled, That section 1001(5) of the Food Security Act of 1985 is amended by striking subparagraph (B) and inserting in lieu thereof the following new subparagraphs (B), (C), and (D): " (B) In applying the limitation provided for by this section, the Secretary shall--"(i) provide for similar treatment of all entities; "(ii) except as provided in clause (iii), determine the amount of payments that may be received by any entity based upon the number of members of the entity who are determined to be actively engaged in farming; "(iii) consider any entity that is conducting a farming operation independently of all of its members to be a separate person;

Page 75

GAO/RCED-87-176 Farm Payments

Appendix VI USDA's Proposed Amendment to Section 1001 of the Food Security Act of 1985

"(iv) attribute all payments received by an entity to the members of the entity that have an interest in the entity, such attribution to be based upon the member's interest in the entity; and

"(v) consider an individual or entity to be actively engaged in farming if such individual or entity has made a significant contribution (determined based upon the total value of the farming operation) of (I) land, cash, or equipment, and (II) labor or management to the farming operation.

"(C) For the purpose of this section the term 'entity' means a corporation, trust, estate, limited partnership, general partnership, joint venture, charitable organization and, except as provided in subparagraph (A), any other entity or association. "(D) The Secretary may determine not to attribute payments to a member of an entity as provided for in subparagraph (B) (iv) if it is determined that—

"(i) such member's interest in the entity is less than 10 percent; and

"(ii) attribution of such payments to such member would have little or no impact on the implementation of the limitation provided for by this section.".

Page 76

.

	. The amendments provided for by this act shall be effective w	
respec	t to the 1988 through 1990 crops of wheat, feed grains, upland	
cotton	, extra long staple cotton, rice, and honey.	

≥ ≩er

Page 77

a San Karala Sa

Appendix VI USDA's Proposed Amendment to Section 1001 of the Food Security Act of 1985

GAO Comment	1. Source: <u>Report to Congress by the Secretary of Agriculture With</u> Respect to the Implementation of the Maximum Payment Limitation,
	March 10, 1987, pages 39 and 40.

a in

.

i?

.

Appendix VII Major Contributors to This Report

Resources, Community, and Economic Development Division, Washington, D.C.	Brian P. Crowley, Senior Associate Director, (202) 275-5138 John W. Harman, Associate Director Cliff Fowler, Group Director Edward Zadjura, Assignment Manager Julian L. King, Information Processing Assistant
Kansas City Regional Office	Kenneth Luecke, Assistant Regional Manager Carl Aubrey, Regional Assignment Manager David Ashley, Evaluator-in-Charge Raymond Hiel, Evaluator Nancy Welch, Evaluator Jerry Hall, Computer System Analyst Donald Ficklin, Computer System Analyst
Dallas Regional Office	Sherrill Johnson, Regional Assignment Manager Albertos Alyala, Evaluator Merrie Nichols, Evaluator
San Francisco Regional Office	Richard Sheldon, Regional Assignment Manager Elizabeth Olivarez, Evaluator Robert Tomcho, Evaluator

₩. P

Requests for copies of GAO reports should be sent to:

U.S. General Accounting Office Post Office Box 6015 Gaithersburg, Maryland 20877

Telephone 202-275-6241

<u>а</u> т.

40

The first five copies of each report are free. Additional copies are \$2.00 each.

There is a 25% discount on orders for 100 or more copies mailed to a single address.

Orders must be prepaid by cash or by check or money order made out to the Superintendent of Documents.

United States General Accounting Office Washington, D.C. 20548

Official Business Penalty for Private Use \$300

Address Correction Requested

 $\beta^{\mu}_{i} \alpha^{\mu}_{ij} \alpha^{\mu}_{ij} \ldots \beta^{-1}_{ij}$

First-Class Mail Postage & Fees Paid GAO Permit No. G100

2 N - 2

2 340

\$

٠,

,